
FY19 Annual Report

Growing good things together



All co-op owners are invited to attend our Annual Meeting & Celebration Dinner for a 
night of good conversation, food, and fun! Come learn more about your co-op and join in 
the discussion about where we've been and where we're going.

Food and art are both expressions of culture with stories to tell. The co-op incorporates art into its operations 
in many ways from supporting local arts events to holding art shows in the cafe to including local art in the store 
decor. This year we are trying something new: presenting our annual meeting reports in a more artistic format 
with the support of Easthampton artist Gabriel Harrell.

Gabriel is a Bread & Puppet Theatre artist (as well as Bread & Puppet Board Member) and founder of The 
Rural Academy Theatre in Easthampton. This year, with their expertise and support we are turning our Annual 
Meeting  presentation into a performance including an illustrated hand-cranked rolling scroll "stage", 
puppetry, and kazoos! 

Come to our Annual Meeting & Celebration Dinner prepared for some good food and a bit of puppetry theatre 
fun. Keep in mind while Gabriel is a pro at this, it will be our first time live performing the annual reports.

Celebration 
Dinner

Annual 
Meeting20

19

 You’re Invited!

Friday, December 6, 2019 • 5:30–9pm

Evening Agenda

5:30   Mingle, eat, drink, and see our Annual Report presentation 
Questions & Answers 

7:00  Introduction of Board members and candidates

7:10   Expedition Easthampton performance 
Questions & Answers 
Final call for ballots to elect board members

8:00   Adjourn meeting 
Dessert until 9pm

Mill 180 Park 180 Pleasant Street, Easthampton, MA 

Food by Mill 180 Park • Cash Bar • Live Music

Tickets are just $5 and are available at the Customer Service desk
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In this Annual Report, 
we are informing 
River Valley Co-op 
owners about the 
results of our work 
over the last fiscal 
year, which ended 
June 30, 2019.
Our mission is to create a just 
marketplace that nourishes the 
community. Because our co-op has a 
triple bottom line, this report is more 
than an annual financial statement. 
It includes information on the three 
P’s vital to River Valley Co-op: People, 
Planet, and Profit. Thank you for your 
attention to your cooperative’s business!
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Eleven Years Strong
President's Report by Steve Bruner

As I write this letter, two months 
before our Annual Meeting, I can 

imagine what it might feel like to be a 
talk-show host taping a show just hours before a 
scheduled big event, to be aired after the event. 
Between early October and early December, our 
Management and Board of Directors will have made 
progress on finalizing details surrounding the plans 
for Expedition Easthampton, the construction of our 
second store. How much progress? We’ll find out at 
the Annual Meeting.

As we approach go-time, it’s important to 
recognize how deliberate and thorough a process this 
has been. Planning for a second store began back 
when the current store was in its infancy. Thanks 
to the vision of our great-great-board-members (in 
board years, we are a few generations removed from 
them), River Valley Co-op’s 25-year plan included 
expansion to additional locations. Upon being 
elected to the Board four years ago, I learned that the 
expansion cogs and wheels were not only greased, 
but starting to turn. The Board viewed expansion 
as the best way to ensure the sustainability of our 
business operations and service to our ever growing 
cooperative community. And, if done right, it would 
relieve some pressure on the current store, which was 
beginning to outgrow its home.

Between 2015 and 2017, we further educated 
ourselves about the expansion process and began 
laying more intentional groundwork. We brought 
in outside help to guide us in understanding and 
analyzing complex financial projections. We surveyed 
you, our owners, to get your input on what we should 
prioritize. And, we hired independent experts to do 
market analyses. In the true spirit of cooperation, 
we held a board retreat in Burlington, VT, and were 
hosted by the leadership team of the Onion River 
Co-op. They were on track to open the doors of their 
second store in November 2017 and helped us wrap 
our heads around our own expansion strategy.

We explored the feasibility of several different 
sites, and in January of 2018, secured our preferred 
site, a former car dealership in Easthampton, with 
an exclusive option to purchase the property. Thus 
began detailed discussions about the pros and cons 
of this property, and lots … of … due … diligence 
- site analysis, market analysis, environmental 
assessments, and zoning & permitting, as well as 
community outreach, financial projections, building 
and site design and meetings with city officials, 
co-op owners, funding partners and contractors. At 
important junctures, the Board scrutinized decisions 
and options, and gave our authorization when we felt 
it was prudent for our management team to proceed.

One of those junctures involved authorization 
for our co-op to borrow money from you, our owners. 

Ah, the Capital Campaign. Wow! Over $5 Million in 
300+ individual co-op owner loans!! Thanks to an 
outstanding effort from Board, staff, and co-op owner 
volunteers, we connected with a large number of our 
owners, person-to-person. Our conversations with 
you were gratifying and helpful. We heard about what 
you appreciated about our co-op, as well as areas 
where you felt we could improve. Just as valuable as 
the owners who made loans were the many owners 
who said, “I’m not in a position to lend the co-op 
money right now, but I love the co-op and am totally 
supportive of the Easthampton project.” Right on, and 
thanks!

That brings us to this fall. While the 
aforementioned expansion process was taking place, 
our hard working and talented staff operated our 
store and continued to make it better. To be sure, the 
success of our co-op goes way beyond our income 
statement, but nearly $30 Million in annual sales is 
nothing to be shy about, especially when over thirty 
percent of those sales flow from over $6.5 million in 
local wholesale purchases from our area farmers and 
food producers. The oodles of noteworthy initiatives 
that our co-op has championed or otherwise 
supported can be found in the pages of this Annual 
Report. Adding the Easthampton store to our co-op 
operations will enable us to do even more for and 
with our community. 

Looking ahead, we know we’re in for a wild ride. 
Opening a new store will be no small feat. Fortunately, 
our co-op staff is one of our greatest assets, and we 
have a skilled and dedicated leadership team that is 
well-positioned to manage the challenge. As well, our 
Board of Directors, the co-op owners you’ve elected 
for leadership of our cooperative, is an amazing team 
for overseeing the development of this important 
community asset. The River Valley Co-op Board is 
the most highly functional board I’ve ever been on. 
Our directors are thoughtful, diligent, effective, and 
motivated by the mission of our co-op – “To create a 
just marketplace that nourishes the community.”

I can say with confidence that the “State of our 
Cooperative Community is Strong”. Thank you for all 
you do. We’re growing good things together with River 
Valley Co-op!

Total FY19 Sales

$29,622,084
An increase of 5.59% from FY18
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Financial Health
Treasurer's Report by Mark Devlin

The results for 2019 speak loud 
and clear to River Valley Co-op 

successfully delivering on the triple 
bottom line of People, Planet and Profit. While much 
of the credit belongs to the co-op’s leadership 
and staff, these results were also driven by the 
cooperative values and the shopping decisions of our 
co-op owners.

2019 DELIVERED ON THE TRIPLE BOTTOM LINE OF 
PEOPLE, PLANET & PROFIT
People: In January of 2019, we increased the minimum 
wage at River Valley Co-op to $15 per hour, four years 
ahead of the Massachusetts legislative requirement 
for a $15 minimum wage by 2023. Both the UFCW Local 
1459 representing store workers and our cooperative's 
leadership have a commitment to a livable wage 
for all staff. The decision to make this proactive 
wage change was a joint decision of the UFCW Local 
1459 and River Valley Co-op. Through the collective 
bargaining process, we worked out the details for 
$15/hr to be the lowest starting wage for entry level 
positions. This change provides a wage rate above 
the current livable wage rate of $13.64/hr* for all 
our employees from the start of their employment. 
(*Based on livable wage calculations for single 
individuals living in Northampton, MA.)

The plans for the second store were developed 
as part of a strategy to ensure the sustainability 
and growth of good co-op jobs by providing more 
advancement opportunities for our co-op staff. We 
expect to add 100 new co-op jobs over the next five 
years as a result of adding the Easthampton store to 
our operations.

Planet: Care for our planet is evident in the green 
construction project plans to build a second store in 
Easthampton. The plans include solar panels on the 
roof of the store as well as an even larger array that 
will shade much of the parking lot. The parking lot 
system electric production is projected to be close to 
500kWh while the store rooftop system is projected 
to produce over 200kWh for a combined solar energy 
production of about 700kWh! This is approximately 
the same amount of power our store is projecting 
we'll use! Other green features include electric vehicle 
charging stations, energy efficient lighting, a highly 
insulated building shell, a stormwater management 
system to ensure that only clean water is discharged 
from the parking lot into the adjacent wetlands, 
and the only fossil fuels used will be propane for 
equipment related to cooking in the prepared foods 
department and the emergency generator. Beyond 
the store itself, the expansion project benefits 
the planet by providing the capacity for us to 
dramatically increase our local farm purchases, thus 

further supporting the growth of sustainable land 
stewardship and food production in our region.

Profit: River Valley Co-op was profitable in 2019 with 
net income before taxes of $280,493 (0.9% of sales, up 
from 0.3% prior year). This profitability, which is the 
result of both sales growth and operating efficiency 
improvements, is particularly impressive given the 
2019 investments in staff and the early phases of the 
expansion project. Sales this year reached a new high 
of $29.6 million, an increase of 5.59% as compared 
to a 2% increase the prior year. These sales results 
truly speak to the excellent work by the store staff 
everyday to meet our shopper’s needs, as well as the 
values and actions of our co-op owners to support 
their co-op, as evidenced by: (1) more people than 
ever before are shopping at the co-op; and (2) our 
customers increasing the average amount of products 
they buy from the co-op. 

Operating efficiencies and productivity were also 
evident in the 2019 financial results, and contributed 
to this year’s profit. Gross margin, for example, 
improved from 35.4% in 2018 to 36.2% this year, 
which increases profitability. Personnel Expense as 
a percent of sales was held steady at 23.9%, despite 
increasing the minimum wage to $15 per hour. This 
expense ratio holding steady reflects increased staff 
productivity managing our sales growth. Similarly, 
sales per labor hour improved by 5% from the 
prior year, again providing evidence of operating 
efficiencies and productivity.

In addition to the storyline of sales growth 
and operating efficiency leading to profitability 
(i.e., impressive operating results), two other 
key measures speak to owner confidence in and 
commitment to our co-op. One such measure is 
owner count, which increased by 871 or 8.9%, to a 
total of 10,680 owners. A second key indication of 
co-op owner commitment is the $5.3 million in Co-op 
Owner Loans extended by owners to the co-op. In 
2018, owners with existing co-op loans were asked to 
consider renewing their loans to help support the soft 
costs related to the Easthampton store and give us a 
jump-start on the upcoming owner loan campaign to 
support the second store. This resulted in a total of 
$2.8 million in Co-op Owner Loans by the end of 2018. 
In the spring of 2019, we asked for another 300 or so 
owners to make new loans to the co-op, in order to 
reach the $5 million needed to support the funding 
of the second store. The membership responded and 
exceeded the goal, bringing this year’s Co-op Owner 
Loan total to $5.3 million. This commitment from our 
owners was instrumental in helping the co-op secure 
approximately $4 million in economic development 
funding for the second store project. 

Continued on next page



4 river valley co•op  FY19 ANNUAL REPORT

The result of a profitable year with tremendous 
owner support is a Patronage Dividend. This 
Patronage Dividend is both a repayment of owner-
customer loyalty (distributed portion), and an 
investment in the future of the cooperative (retained 
portion). Our co-op is well positioned in 2020 to 
invest in its own sustainability through growth – two 
stores, one co-op. It is impressive and encouraging 
to see the needed funding for this 2020 growth 
come from both enthusiastic owners and profitable, 
efficient operations.

$43,000 in Patronage Rebates 
on your FY19 Co-op Purchases
RIVER VALLEY CO-OP IS A TRUE STORY OF 
SUCCESSFUL COOPERATION!
Our co-op staff excellence has contributed to owner 
satisfaction, which has led to sales growth, resulting 
in profitable operations and a declared Patronage 
Dividend, which increases owner’s equity. This 
collective sequence of events has bolstered owner 
confidence,thus increasing Co-op Owner Loans, 
strengthening our co-op financially, and positioning 
us to prudently make the necessary investment in a 
second store, in support of our current 10,680 co-op 
owners as well as thousands of future owners.

THE ORIGINS OF OUR STORY
About 20 years ago, some of our current member-
owners committed to make a financial investment 
toward their dream of a local, community-owned, 
cooperative grocery store (not to mention the 
investments made by other co-ops). Their dream was 
realized about 10 years after that initial investment, 
when our current store opened its doors in the 
spring of 2008. Our owners and community members 
have now been supporting our co-op for the past 11 
years with their regular grocery purchases. Opening 
a grocery store requires a significant investment in 
property, equipment, people, and product inventory. 
Like many a new business, the investment to start 
our co-op was largely funded with debt. Through 
effective management and community support, 
our co-op achieved a break even point on cash flow 
from operations at 1.5 years and in our fourth year 
we declared our first patronage dividend. Earnings 
before taxes have been positive every year since.

STRENGTHENING OUR CO-OP THROUGH 
INVESTMENT
2019 will mark the sixth year that River Valley Co-op 
has declared a Patronage Dividend, for a cumulative 
total of $2.23 million. $446,046 has been rebated to 
co-op owners. A Patronage Dividend is a business 
tool, defined by federal tax code, that is unique to a 
cooperative business. This tool allows a cooperative 
business to declare a Patronage Dividend roughly 
equal to the amount of profit derived from grocery 

sales to co-op owners. Once declared, this Patronage 
Dividend is deemed non-taxable by the Internal 
Revenue Service. A declared Patronage Dividend 
must then be partially distributed to the owners, 
with the non-distributed dividend balance retained 
by (reinvested in) the co-op. Retained patronage 
dividends are an important source of funding and 
reinvestment in our co-op's operations. 

The individual owner portion of the Patronage 
Dividend is proportional to each individual owner’s 
patronage, or grocery expenditure for the year. Co-op 
owners rebates are based on profits from their own 
purchases. Retained patronage serves to improve the 
financial health of the co-op by increasing owner’s 
equity and reducing the dependence on, and expense 
of, debt in the form of bank loans. Each new co-op 
owner purchases a share for $150, and this $150 
goes to owner’s equity. So new owners contribute to 
equity, as does co-op profitability. River Valley Co-op 
has amassed $2.9 million of owner’s equity as of June 
2019, by attracting new owners, by satisfying and 
retaining current owners, and by running profitable 
operations. 

Building a second store requires both owner's 
equity and debt, like Co-op Owner Loans. A Co-op 
Owner Loan is viewed by bank like an owner's 
investment in the co-op. Co-op Owner Loans have 
the advantage of keeping money in our immediate 
community, as co-op interest expense becomes co-op 
owner interest income. Co-op Owner Loans also serve 
as an expression of confidence in, and commitment 
to, the co-op by its member-owners. This quantifiable 
expression of confidence most assuredly helped our 
co-op secure the competitive local bank financing 
needed, and attract the highly advantageous federal 
economic development funding needed to build our 
second store in 2020. In plain English, you made the 
dream of a second store a very near-term reality, 
because you first saved $3 million in your co-op, and 
you then stepped forward with another $5 million in 
Co-op Owner Loans. 

The past and present of 
River Valley Co-op tell 
a story of successfully 
enriching our lives 
and strengthening our 
community through 
cooperative investment.
– Mark Devlin, Board Treasurer

FINANCIAL HEALTH continued from page 3
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Supporting Local Farm
ers

Pioneer Valley Workers Center Co-op Farm • Hatfield, MA

Launched this year, the Pioneer Valley Workers Center Cooperative Farm is a worker-owned farm that is run and managed by immigrants. Located Hatfield, MA, 
they made their first delivery of peppers, cucumbers, and zucchini to the co-op this summer.

Wellspring Harvest is a worker-owned hydroponic greenhouse located Springfield, MA. This past August was their one year anniversary of being open and to 
celebrate their hard work and dedication we donated $2,500 to support their mission of bringing healthy, locally-grown produce to area hospitals, schools, 
businesses, and residents. Image of co-op staff presenting check at Wellspring Harvest one year anniversary open house © The Republican / MassLive.

Atlas Farm • South Deerfield, MA

Atlas Farm is a certified organic farm that grows vegetables, herbs, and fruit in South Deerfield, MA – just 11 miles from the co-op! Their produce has been a 
staple at the co-op since we opened in 2008, and is a staff and customer favorite.
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Year in Review: FY19
General Manager's Report by Rochelle Prunty

A FEW KEY ACCOMPLISHMENTS
• Instituted a $15/hr minimum wage scale as part 

of our new three year Collective Bargaining 
Agreement with the UFCW Local 1459 ratified with 
96% approval on January 4, 2019

• Implemented a 401(k) plan with a wider portfolio 
of options of socially responsible investment, 
including screening out 26 companies engaged in 
nuclear weapons business 

• Increased co-op ownership by 871 people for a 
total of 10,680 co-op owners, a 8.9% increase

• Increased sales overall to nearly $30 million 
with an increase of $1,569,524 or 5.59% over the 
previous year 

• Increased our wholesale local purchases to 
$6,531,344 with an increase of $363,260 or 5.9% 
over the previous year 

• Increased Food For All low income purchases by 
7.5% to $860,280 with $86,028 in discounts. The 
use of this program has increased 183% since it 
was launched five years ago.

• Reduced our fossil fuel based plastic packaging 
by 410,00 pieces per year, amounting to about 1.37 
tons of plastic eliminated in the waste system

• Successfully piloted an electronic invoicing 
system reducing paper use and increasing 
efficiency

• Developed the Easthampton store site plans 
and secured approval from the Easthampton 
Conservation Commission on our Stormwater 
Permit and the Easthampton Planning Board on 
our Special Permit 

• Developed our two-store staff structure 
plan with three new positions added to our 
management team this year: Expansion Project 
Manager, Category Manager, and Diversity, Equity, 
& Inclusion Manager 

• Exceeded our $5 million goal in Co-op Owner 
Loans from our community to help fund 
Expedition Easthampton

• Worked with the City of Easthampton to submit a 
MassWorks Grant application

• Developed the team for the outside financing 
needed to fund Expedition Easthampton: 
Easthampton Savings Bank and economic 
development funding partners Massachusetts 
Housing Incentive Corporation, Vermont Rural 

Ventures, National Community Investment Fund 
and Capital One Community Investment Fund. Our 
funding is expected to be completed by the end 
of January 2020

• Finalized our store fixture plan and secured 
bids on all major equipment and installation 
with support from National Co-op Grocers 
Development Co-op

• Engaged Wright Builders, Thomas Douglas 
Architects, Berkshire Design Group, and others to 
develop construction plans to address physical 
needs for operations; including Captain Jack’s 
business as well as green building and energy 
efficiency values

• Developed a provisional Guaranteed Maximum 
Price contract with Wright Builders to build the 
Easthampton store with plans at 95% completion

• Engaged Solar Design Associates through Co-op 
Power to complete the solar design for the new 
store’s parking lot and rooftop. This is projected 
to generate about the same amount of power 
needed to operate the store, very close to net 
zero!

• Achieved nearly 1% net income (.94% to be exact) 
for the year before taxes for a total of $280,493. 
The Board was able to declare a patronage 
dividend of $211,606 that was attributed to 
income from owners’ purchases and there will be 
a patronage rebate in March 2020 

As you can see FY19 has been a very full year with 
many successes and much progress. I can’t recall ever 
having one year with this many big things going on at 
once: 

• Collective bargaining 

• New wage scale and benefits

• New store design 

• 10-year financial modeling for two stores

• Co-op Owner Loan Campaign

• Seeking a mix of bank and economic  
development funding 

• Construction planning

• Construction permitting

• Two store staff structure planning

• Internal systems upgrades 

We couldn’t have done this without the support 
of our community and the great work by many people 

The project we call Expedition Easthampton (the project to build a second store in Easthampton) 
has inspired us to focus our energy on building a better future together. Our work over the last 

year has included improving our current operations, systems, and staff wages and benefits while 
also developing plans and securing the funding for our Easthampton store. 

Thank you to our community for coming together in so many different ways to support us over the last year!
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on many fronts. All this was in addition our “normal” 
work operating a very busy store and engaging in a 
lot of community outreach activities. I’m very grateful 
to the many people that have worked so hard and 
contributed in so many different ways to the myriad 
of projects, important activities and efforts that go 
into the success of our “normal” everyday operations 
of the store. That too, is no small accomplishment. 
Thank you to all our co-op staff, the management 
team, the Board of Directors, our co-op owners and 
shoppers, our vendors, all the professionals we’ve 
worked with, the other co-ops and cooperative 
associations, and the many community businesses 
and nonprofits we’ve partnered with. It is an honor 
to work with you as we embark on Expedition 
Easthampton.

We are growing good things together! Thank you 
for your participation and support! 

REMEMBERING BILL GESSNER
The food cooperative community lost a visionary 
leader when Bill Gessner passed away in January 
following a stroke. 

While some of you know may know Bill Gessner 
from his work with food co-ops (or perhaps through 
the singer-songwriter network), you all have 
experienced one impact of his work: he was a key 
advisor that supported our food co-op’s startup. He 
kept encouraging us to take the next step throughout 
our startup journey and gently guided our co-op’s 
leadership. He also championed our cause throughout 
the food co-op network, which at that time only had 
a handful of new food co-op startups since the late 
’70s. Since our co-op opened in 2008 not only have 
we thrived and are now opening a second store, but 
over 150 new food co-ops have opened and over 150 
others are in the process of starting up. This is one 
testament to Bill’s work. Bill devoted over 40 years 
of his life to supporting the development of food 
co-ops. Much of the turnaround of a sharp decline 
in food co-ops during the 1980s to the growth of 

the remaining food cooperatives and the current 
expansion of the cooperative movement can be 
credited to his work developing the people leading 
co-ops, developing systems, and bringing us together 
through collaboration for our common good. One 
of the many things about cooperative endeavors 
is that they create a lot of community leaders that 
support the co-op’s work. If you look behind all those 
local heroes, it is highly likely Bill was somewhere 
in the background as an advisor to the individuals, 
their co-op, or that one of the systems or support 
organizations he helped develop is there.

Bill mentored and advised a lot of food co-op 
managers over the decades, and he was one of my 
early mentors when I first became a co-op General 
Manager in 1990. My voice is one of many in the 
refrain that my co-op is better because of the support 
both I and my co-op received from Bill. He always 
magically found a spark he could gently fan into a 
flame to pull us forward and together. Bill’s wisdom 
and work to build a better world has been central to 
nurturing independent food co-ops into a growing 
value-based cooperative movement.

We made a donation of $5,000 in 2019 to the 
Bill Gessner Memorial Fund in gratitude for his long 
service and support to the food co-op movement 
and our co-op. The fund will support key initiatives 
that will last at least 10 years, in four areas that were 
important to Bill: startup food co-ops, cooperative 
growth and development, coaching and mentoring, 
and international cooperative principles. We join 
many individuals and co-ops donating $84,000 to 
date with contributions ranging from $25 to $5,000. 
The goal is to surpass $100,000 by the end of 2019. For 
more info: billgessner.com.

While we lost Bill this year, his name comes up 
pretty much every week in our work to open a second 
store in Easthampton as we consider what Bill would 
say about different issues we encounter. I see the 
spirit of generosity that Bill wrote about in 2015 hard 
at work in our community as we come together to 

“The spirit of generosity, in its bold and 
subtle forms, broadcasts and cultivates 
the seeds of cooperation.” – Bill Gessner

"Bill touched the lives of so many in the co-op sector, and I consider myself very lucky 
to have had the opportunity to be one of those people. While I thought I was hiring a 
consultant to assist with financial modeling, what I ended up getting was so much more. Bill 
was a mentor, coach and friend. Bill would start every phone call or meeting inquiring about 
how I was doing outside of work. He would make sure I took time to breathe, vacation and 

spend time doing what I loved. Bill also liked to tell me, and everyone he worked with that they were doing 
a great job. Bill, you did a great job!” – Duke Bouchard, River Valley Co-op CFO

Continued on next page
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build the new store. Many thanks to Bill! Our co-op 
not only now exists, it now has the momentum and 
capacity to help support others and to keep building 
on that to make a better future for people and our 
planet.

EVERYONE IS WELCOME ENTRYWAY RUG
One sweet project that was completed this year was 
a new entryway rug. Sounds simple enough, but then 
Assistant Operations Manager Kale had a great idea 
to customize it with the words Everyone is Welcome! 
And that led to her having a bigger idea of writing it 
in several languages. She spoke with more people 
on the staff and ultimately came up with 13 different 
languages. Still we worried someone would feel 
left out, so we came up with a plan that if others 
wanted their languages included, we would make 
some hanging banners to include them too. Besides 
the message, the new rug helps remove sand and 
dirt from our shoes before we enter the store much 
better than the previous walk off mat. Thanks Kale for 
making our front entryway so welcoming!

THE GROCERY STORY BOOK TOUR
One of the highlights for me over the last year was 
Jon Steinman’s book tour to hundreds of food co-ops 
throughout Canada and the US, including a stop at 
our co-op this summer. While many books have been 
written about the local food movement, I don’t know 
of any yet written about the role of the grocery store 
in the local food movement, until… Grocery Story by 
Jon Steinman. A quote on the first page caught my 
attention because it rang true: “Hope comes from 
having the courage to look calmly at problems and 
imagine a better world.” He talks about coming to 
the realization that “big food” as the perpetrators 
and local food and local food eaters as “victims” 

does not stimulate change. “It establishes an “us” 
and a “them”, and from there arises the exhausting 
and often ineffectual work of assessing right from 
wrong, worthy from worthless.” Further he said in 
introductory notes, “The goal of “deconstructing” 
big food and the grocery giants is not to lay blame 
or point fingers but to see the emperor without his 
clothes and, in his nakedness, to see that the emperor 
is us.” 

Jon wrote this book about hope for a more 
cooperative future. He does a great job of showing 
how the food cooperatives are gaining momentum, 
even in the age of the corporate grocery giants. Did 
you know that 67% of total US food dollars end up 
supporting the profits of five grocery companies 
owned by five of the twenty five wealthiest people in 
the world? That sheer volume of sales dollars, even at 
low margins, is what is fueling big food.

Food cooperatives have the opportunity to 
disrupt some of that flow of financial resources from 
big food interests to support our own community 
interests. This little disruption supports amazing 
things we can do together. Not only does increased 
scale and volume give local co-ops the funding to 
survive in the age of the corporate grocery giants, it 
can give us enough of an economic engine to thrive 
and convert our community’s food dollars to not only 
provide goods and services our community wants, 
but to build local community economic and food 
systems that we want for our future. That is the power 
of imagining a better world and shopping in food 
cooperatives. 

 Thanks to Jon for writing the book! You can find 
copies for sale at the store. 

YEAR IN REVIEW: FY19, REMEMBERING BILL GESSNER continued from page 7

Jon Steinman outside of River Valley Co-op during his book tour
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WORK ON OUR GREEN BUILDING PROJECT  
WITH WRIGHT BUILDERS
Much of my focus has been various aspects of 
planning for our Easthampton store and working 
with Wright Builders. It is a privilege working with 
local professionals with deep knowledge of green 
buildings and energy efficiency that are also engaged 
as co-op owners and shoppers. The planning process 
with this team really brings home what an inspiring 
community project building the store in Easthampton 
has become.

 Jonathan Wright, founder of Wright Builders, just 
published a book, Living Building Makers: Creating 
Sustainable Buildings That Renew Our World. It is 
a beautiful book about the community building 
that comes about through the process of making a 
living building and the stories the people doing the 
work bring to the table. One story was told by Linda 
Gaudreau, Wright Builders Operations Manager. She 
talked about her father, who worked for a large scale 
household products manufacturer in Easthampton. 
Sadly, he died at the age of 39 of pancreatic cancer. 
Most of the men he worked with died at a young 
age as well. She spoke of how important it is to her 
to work on green buildings. Not only to ensure the 
products used in the buildings provide a healthy 
environment for the workers making the building, but 
also creating a healthy environment for those working 
in the completed buildings. Linda grew up and lives 
in Easthampton. She spoke of how it is personal to 
her to work with a mission to make all future building 
materials nontoxic for everyone. 

Wright Builders is heading up and coordinating 
our design team which includes: Monica Nuñez 
our Expansion Project Manager, Thomas Douglas 
Architects, Berkshire Design Group, Co-op Power, 
Tighe & Bond, Solar Design Associates, National 
Co-op Grocers Development Co-op, and many local 
subcontractors from all the trades that have come 
to the table through the bidding process over the 
last year. Tomorrow night, as I’m writing this we 
are hosting a Chili Dinner in appreciation of all the 
contractors that are working with us on the project. 
I am deeply grateful to everyone who has come 
forward to work with us on this project! 

Wright Builders is a local builder that has 
completed two living buildings in our community: 
the R.W. Kern Center at Hampshire College and the 
Hitchcock Center or the Environment in Amherst. 

Their green building expertise and long successful 
working relationship with the co-op are core reasons 
we selected them as our General Contractors. They 
began this journey with us in 2015, with Jonathan 
Wright volunteering to support our site search for a 
second store. We're worked through a lot of potential 
sites before deciding on the Easthampton location in 
January 2018.

I’m grateful for such caring and accomplished 
local building partners on this project.

ELIMINATING PLASTIC PACKAGING
The social media post of sea turtle with a plastic 
straw in its nose that went viral over a year ago 
helped raise more awareness about the problem 
with plastic. This happened about the same time the 
plastic recycling market dropped dramatically due to 
losing the market for US recycling in China. We heard 
alarming news that much of the plastic consumers 
had deposited to be recycled was not being recycled.

We have long worked to offer a lot of more 
environmentally-friendly paper fiber based 
compostable packaging in prepared foods. We have 
never carried plastic grocery bags or used Styrofoam, 
and we use plant-based plastic products including 

Owners who signed up during our Spring Owner Drive received three free gifts 
for joining the co-op: a recycled tote bag, a reusable stainless steal straw, and 
a set of reusable bamboo utensils  

Continued on next page
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utensils, cold drink cups, straws, and other packages 
that are compostable in industrial composting 
facilities, as well as recyclable plastic packaging. We 
decided it was time to eliminate recyclable plastics 
as much as possible.

We formed a Green Scout Team of staff interested 
in the topic and decided to start by reviewing 
everything we were using. We asked questions about 
the properties of each to evaluate function, needs, 
cost and explore alternatives. 

One might think, as the co-op’s General Manager, 
I could just quickly make a decision to switch from 
plastic to paper for everything and move on. Turns 
out, it isn’t that simple. It has taken more than a 
year to get close to elimination of fossil fuel-based 
plastics for our in-store packaging. 

We found paper products simply did not exist 
for all our needs, or would not adequately meet our 
customers functional needs. We also found some 
items were very expensive and difficult to work 
with, and that some of these were only available 
sporadically. We tried some new products that failed. 
Biodegradable produce bags led to a widespread 
customer outcry about the “fleshy” produce bags 
that began biodegrading in the refrigerator. Roasted 
chicken bags were another failure because they 
leaked resulting in customer requests for plastic bags 
to put them in at the register. 

PFAS IN FIBER PACKAGES
Further packaging concerns appeared in December 
last year when the news hit that there were harmful 
PFAS (per- or poly-fluoroalkyl substances) discovered 
in Whole Foods Market and at other grocery store 
chains fiber based in-store packaging. 

PFAS are a class of industrial chemicals used 
to repel grease, water and stains in single-use 
packaging products. According to the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency, PFAS have been 
linked to cancer, can harm the immune system, 
and accumulate in humans and the environment. 
Fortunately, our co-op suppliers were able to 
determine that the products we were using were 
free of PFAS with the exception of our bulk coffee 
bags (which we found a PFAS-free alternative for 
upon learning of the issue). The lesson here was 
just because it looks more environmentally friendly, 
doesn’t mean it’s always true. PFAS are problematic 

pollutants for us and our environment. Fiber-based 
products with PFAS were another thing to work to 
avoid as we explored alternative packaging options.

The packaging industry simply has not yet caught 
up to the demand for environmentally-friendly 
packaging to meet all needs. But the customer 
demand and our planet’s need for relief is high and 
more innovations are probably coming out even as I 
write this. 

WE FOUND MANY SOLUTIONS!
I’m happy to report that we've found solutions for 
most things that we or you package in the store 
that are plant-based and either biodegradable or 
industrially compostable along with many reusable 
options. There are a few exceptions like cheese wrap 
and cryovac packed meats that we haven’t yet solved. 
But, for the most part, we have eliminated in-store 
fossil fuel-based plastic packaging and we are 
offering a lot more reusable options for customers. 
We also accept returns of our plant based plastic 
packaging at the store for our customers that don’t 
have access to industrial compost service.

10¢ FOR PAPER GROCERY BAGS?
Another challenge we face with this is some 
substantial increased store packaging costs. We have 
never charged for our paper grocery bags. However, 
we see that since Northampton banned plastic 
grocery bags other stores are charging 10 cents per 
grocery bag to cover the higher cost of paper bags. 
We are considering following suit and applying the 
savings on our paper grocery bags to some of our 
other store packaging cost increases. We are looking 
to make this proposed change at the start of the new 
year – let us know what you think of this idea.

I want to give Assistant Operations Manager 
and Co-Efficient Coordinator Juli Colón a shout out 
for heading up the Green Scout Team and leading 
us forward in this project over the last year. In 
addition to her leadership in our co-op, Juli is part of 
a national food co-op committee working on goals 
to transition to a future free of single-use plastics 
in food co-ops. While we’ve come a long way, we still 
have more work to do.

It has been a good year in many, many ways. 
Thank you for all you do!

YEAR IN REVIEW: FY19, ELIMINATING PLASTIC PACKAGING continued from page 9

“As we at Wellspring Harvest Greenhouse look back at our first year of operation we have many things 
to be thankful for. Chief among them are the friendships and partnerships that have been forged that has 
allowed us to bring to market varieties of locally grown lettuce from a worker owned cooperative.

As one of our first business partners, River Valley Co-op understood our desire to minimize the use of 
plastic in our lettuce packaging from the very start. Your request for Wellspring lettuce to be delivered 
banded, completely eliminated the need for plastic clam shells. River Valley Co-op has shown that not only 
do you care about the quality of food you sell but the impact unnecessary packaging has on the environment. 
We point with pride to the plastic-free purchasing program at River Valley Co-op to our other clients. We 
stress that not only can plastic-free packaging be good for the environment, it can be good for business. It 
is our goal at Wellspring Harvest to completely eliminate plastic from our packaging and we appreciate the 
example and leadership set by River Valley Co-op.” 

– S. Do-Han Allen, General Manager, Wellspring Harvest Greenhouse
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Growing Our Co-op • Growing Our Community • Growing a Better Future Together

FY2018

$28
million
Northampton

FY2019

$29.57
million
Northampton

FY2020

$30.46
million
Northampton

FY2021

$26.8
million
Northampton

FY2022

$27.6
million
Northampton

FY2023

$28.43
million
Northampton

FY2021

$13.5
million
Easthampton

FY2022

$14.8
million
Easthampton

FY2023

$15.96
million
Easthampton

$40.3 
million
27.3% growth

-12% growth new income

$42.41 
million
5.2% growth

$44.39 
million
4.7% growth

9.7% growth

7.8% growth3% growth

3% growth

5.4% growth

3% growth

Over the next four years we 
are planning to grow our co-op 
sales 40% by opening a second 
location in Easthampton. 
We expect our Northampton 
store to remain strong while 
the Easthampton store gets 
established. The Easthampton 
store will have a lot of room 
for further growth and our 
Northampton store is expected 
to continue to grow following an 
initial transfer of 12% of its sales 
to the Easthampton location. 
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What an amazing first year at the 
co-op this has been for me. I have met 

the most caring, passionate, dedicated, hardworking 
staff and had the pleasure of working alongside some 
of the retail industry's best leaders. We are growing 
good things here and I’m happy to be part of the 
leadership team helping to put it all together. 

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING & $15/HR  
MINIMUM WAGE
The first half of the year we were engaged in 
collective bargaining for renewing our labor contract 
with the UFCW Local 1459. I began employment 
with the co-op near the end of that process. We 
successfully concluded our negotiations using 
interest-based bargaining (called IBB for short in 
the industry). Our new 3-year collective bargaining 
agreement was ratified on January 4th, 2019 
with 96% approval. The system of negotiations 
we used includes the Union, (the Union’s Staff 
Representative and Union stewards elected from 
the staff) and management working together as a 
team in identifying concerns, brainstorming and 
evaluating solutions until we reach consensus. A key 
part of those negotiations is, of course, wages. We 
are pleased to report our new contract included an 
overall increase in the wage scale with the lowest 
starting wage level at $15.00/hour. This means every 
employee at the co-op earns a livable wage from their 
first day of employment, as well as keeping all our 
starting level jobs well ahead of the state minimum 
wage requirements, which will see a slow uptick to 
$15.00/hour by January 2023. 

The following excerpts from our joint press 
release with the UFCW Local 1459 illustrate the 
success of the collective bargaining process last year: 

Jeff Jones, representing UFCW, Local 1459 said 
of the new agreement; "This is a big stride forward 
in strengthening economic well-being and security 
for the workers. This agreement was ratified with 
96% approval by workers as well as enthusiasm from 
management. Together we’ve developed a 3-year 
contract to carry us through the potential of the 
co-op opening a second location and expanding their 
union workforce in Easthampton. The new contract 
positions River Valley Co-op for continued growth as 
a leading union employer in our community. This is 
good for the workers, the co-op, and the communities 
the co-op serves. Everyone can feel good about 
where we are headed!”

Union Steward Olivia Vicioso described her 
experience on the collective bargaining team for 
the new contract as a positive one, “Crafting a new 

contract was like being part of a think tank. Our 
only constraints were our imagination and of course 
feasibility, acceptability, and benefit to the purpose at 
hand: a safe, functional, and progressive work place 
that meets both staff and management needs. I’m so 
proud of our team for approaching this new contract 
with compassion, empathy, and open-mindedness 
and for ensuring that each team member had an 
equal voice at the table.” 

This year we have also initiated a more 
comprehensive benefit plan with a four-tier structure, 
so that individuals and smaller families have lower 
cost options. Additionally, we have moved our 
401(k) retirement plan to a more option socially 
responsible investment plan that is screened for 
socially responsible business criteria which fits in 
with the co-op's values, and importantly it allowed 
us to screen out 26 companies engaged in the nuclear 
weapons business. We also added a 401(k) match 
component of up to 1.5%!

Our total personnel wages increased $373,050 
to $7,089,701 in FY19, which is 2.9% over the previous 
year. This includes six months with the higher wage 
scale. The sales growth over the last year helped to 
support the increased wage expenses. Continued 
sales growth will ensure sustainability for the future 
as well. 

As of June 30, 2019, the average hourly wage in 
the co-op’s non-supervisory roles was $16.58, not 
including benefits. The comparison to the MA Bureau 
of Labor Statistics for overall non-supervisory retail 
market median wage rate of $12.26/hr, (April 2019), 
helps illustrate the strength of our commitment to 
our workers.

Working at River Valley Co-op 
& Looking Ahead
by Nicole Cowlin, Human Resources Manager

Co-op Non 
Supervisory Roles

Co-op Hourly Wages Compared  
to Overall MA Retail Wages

MA Bureau of Labor 
Statistics Non 

Supervisory Roles

$20.00

$15.00

$10.00

$5.00

0
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PREPARING FOR TWO STORES
The second half of the year the theme has been 
evaluating and updating HR systems to prepare for 
the added complexity and demands of operating 
two retail locations. We added three positions last 
year related to strengthening our operations and the 
new store development including: Expansion Project 
Manager, Category Manager, and Diversity, Equity, and 
Inclusion Manager. We will be increasing the number 
of employees dramatically in the near future for the 
Easthampton store, and we are currently developing 
the systems to prepare for that now. 

We have continued to focus on internal 
improvements, streamlining efficiency, fine 
tuning internal processes and procedures, talent 
assessments and training and development so that 
our HR department can continue to be a strong 
business partner supporting two stores.

We have effectively implemented our HRIS 
system as a means of mass communication 
and training vessel for all of our staff, as well 
as streamlined our recruiting functionality and 
incorporated an electronic pre-onboarding system. 
This creates a better applicant experience and starts 
new staff off on the right foot. We are able to spend 
more quality time with new staff during our Welcome 
Sessions, save paper and spend less time on the 
mundane paperwork.

161 CO-OP STAFF POSITIONS!
As of June 30, 2019 we had 155 employees with six 
open positions. 86% of our employees are full-
time! Over the past year, with support from the 
management team, we have successfully increased 
productivity, cross training functionality and better 
scheduling practices by adding a few more part-
time positions. These part-time positions allowed 
employees that were in school or needed more 
work life balance the flexibility they needed. It 
also served us well for the flexibility to schedule 
to our operational needs. We remain committed to 
providing a high level of full-time employees and are 
far above the national trend for retail grocery at less 
than 50% full-time positions. With the expansion in 
Easthampton, I expect this full-time ratio to remain 
the high 80% to low 90% range. 

We continue to strive to hire and promote 
qualified applicants from within the co-op. This 
year, we filled 81% (or 21 positions) of non-entry 
level positions internally. The Easthampton store 
opening will create many new job and advancement 
opportunities for current and new employees. We 
are anticipating about 75 new employees to start 
in Easthampton and growing that to 100 within 
the first couple years. Some staff will transfer to 
the Easthampton store creating opportunities for 
advancement and new positions in the Northampton 
store as well. 

Our staff turnover rate for the year was 
27.11%, which is well below the retail industry 
average of about 65%, and lower than the 37.11% 

from the previous year. With the increasingly low 
unemployment rates in our area and nationwide this 
is an especially impressively low turnover rate. Our 
well-paying Union jobs with comprehensive benefits, 
supportive work environment, and meaningful work 
make the co-op a great workplace!

DIVERSITY, EQUITY, AND INCLUSION
We strive to reflect the diversity of our community 
in our workplace and we’ve largely succeeded as 
you can see on the chart below. We have worked 
with Welcome Home Refugees Resettlement Project, 
Center for New Americans, and Catholic Charities 
to hire recent refugees which now total six co-op 
employees from Africa.

We’ve added a Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion 
Manager this summer to support our cooperative’s 
intercultural competency development. Our goal 
is to build our leadership skills and capacity to 
address diversity, equity and inclusion across a 
broad spectrum of internal workplace systems, 
store operations, and community outreach. We are 
committed to doing this work in our cooperative 
to better support our all our employees and the 
community we serve.

"This is an exciting 
time to be part of 
River Valley Co-op’s 
next stage of 
development!"
– Nicole Cowlin, Human Resources Manager

River Valley Co-op  
Staff Population

Northampton 
Population

American Indian  
or Alaska Native

0.65% 2.40%

Asian 0.65% 4.10%

Black or African 
American

5.23% 0.30%

Hispanic or Latino 9.80% 6.80%

Two or more 
races

5.88% 2.70%

White 77.12% 87.70%
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Paying it Forward
Cooperative Community Fund Grants

Did you know?
In 2007, 50 food co-ops supported our start up with 
$660,00 in funding. That is part of why we established 
the Cooperative Community Fund – to pay it forward 
to help other co-ops.

COOPERATIVE COMMUNITY FUND
The River Valley Co-op Community Fund is a nonprofit 
charitable foundation established by River Valley 
Co-op’s Board of Directors in 2013. The River Valley 
Co-op Community Fund is one of 40 individual food 
co-op funds which are aggregated for investment in 
cooperative development. The earnings of River Valley 
Co-op’s Community Fund can be donated to local 
nonprofits selected by the co-op, while the invested 
funds continue to support co-op development in 
our region. The River Valley Co-op Community Fund 
is administered by the Twin Pines Cooperative 
Foundation. We’ve built up our funds with donations 
from our co-op, our co-op owners and matching funds 
from some of our vendors to $138,800 over the last 
few years.

This fund is pooled with those of other co-ops 
and invested to support co-op development. In turn, 
we use Annual earnings on the fund to support local 
nonprofits. This year, we will be offering six $1,000 
grants to local nonprofits from the interest earned on 
this fund. See our website for information about how 
to apply for these grants as well as for information on 
how you can make a donation.

PAST COMMUNITY GRANT FUND 
WINNERS:

• Sojourner Truth School  
for Social Change

• Friends of Hampshire County Homeless
• Cutchins Programs for Children 
• Sojourner Truth Committee
• Prospect Meadow Farm
• Sunnyside Early Childhood Center
• Help Yourself!

$2000 Cooperative Community 
Fund Matching Donation Challenge
Your tax deductible donation to the River Valley Co-op Community Fund made by December 31, 2019 will be 
matched (up the first $2,000) by our co-op friends at Frontier Co-op and Equal Exchange and River Valley Co-op!

Make checks out to "River Valley Co-op CCF/TPCF" and drop off at the customer service desk or mail to:  
River Valley Co-op, ATTN: Finance Department, 330 North King Street, Northampton MA 01060

Online Donation Instructions 
Visit www.community.coop/ccf/donate and click "Donate" and enter the amount you wish to donate on the 
following page, and proceed to payment information. In the payment notes enter "River Valley Co-op/CCF." 
Once you submit your donation you will get an email receipt for the amount donated to Twin Pines Cooperative 
Foundation. Keep that for your IRS records of your tax-deductible donation.

Thank you for helping "pay it forward" to support more co-op development in our region.

river 
valley 
co.op

wild  about  local
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Thank you for supporting your co-op with  
$5 million dollars in Co-op Owner Loans!
As a child, I was captivated by fairy tales. In these 
stories, heroes embark on courageous and 
sometimes dangerous journeys with uncertain 
outcomes. In my favorite tale, “Stone Soup,” 
hungry strangers convince villagers to share 
a small amount of their food in order to make 
a fabulous meal enjoyed by everyone. This 
story demonstrated the value of sharing – and 
of people coming together to create something 
that none of them could create on their own.

Such was our recent $5 million dollar Co-op 
Owner Loan campaign! 321 of your friends and 
neighbors pooled their resources to help expand 
a co-op that we will all get to enjoy. Without them 
and their willingness to invest locally, Expedition 
Easthampton would not be possible. They are our 
co-op’s heroes. 

We launched our Co-op Owner Loan campaign 
in March of this year with the hope of building 
a second store in Easthampton. Determining the 
availability of these loans was a necessary step to 
determine the project’s feasibility. We needed $5 
million dollars in Co-op Owner Loans in order to move 
forward. Volunteers and staff put in hundreds of hours 
making phone calls, tabling, answering emails, and 
talking to other owners about this opportunity to invest 
locally in a community-owned endeavor. Everyone we 
spoke to was excited about a possible Easthampton store. 
But was there enough excitement to fund a second store?

By the end of the summer, co-op owners had lent the 
co-op almost $5.2 million dollars. These loans came in 
a variety of sizes. By far the largest number of loans we 
received (70) were for $2,000 or less. 75% (242) of loans 
were for less than $10,000. Co-op lenders will receive 
between 1% and 6% annual interest on their loans (terms 
varied from 7-10 years).

Before we opened our co-op in 2008, hundreds of 
member-owners invested over $1 million in a dream. That 
million-dollar investment has grown into a co-op with 
over 150 employees, and $30 million dollar annual sales 
that funnels millions of dollars annually back into our 
community. Over the years, those initial investors have 
been repaid, and other member-owners have taken their 
place, continuously increasing the positive impact of our 
co-op in our community and in our region. 

Like "Stone Soup", River Valley Co-op is something 
that no one of us could do alone, but that we create 
together and that each of us can enjoy. Thank you again 
to everyone who supported our most recent owner loan 
campaign.

Thank You,  
Co-op Lenders! 
by Jade Barker, Chair, Co-op Owner Loan Committee

$4.5 million
$4.5 million

$4 million
$4 million

$500k$500k

$1 million
$1 million

$1.5 million
$1.5 million

$2 million
$2 million

$2.5 million
$2.5 million

$5 million!
$5 million!

“Never doubt that a small 
group of thoughtful, 
committed citizens can 
change the world; indeed, 
it's the only thing that 
ever has.” – Margaret Mead
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Local Food by the Numbers
One of the important ways we fulfill our mission as a just 
marketplace that nourishes the community is by making local 
food a priority.

What local means to us
We consider products grown, produced, or 
manufactured in New England (MA, VT, NH, ME, RI, CT) 
and up to 150-miles into NY state to be local. 

You'll see all of our local products marked with a 
"Local Color" sticker at the co-op. 

A "Local Hero" product sticker signifies farms and 
businesses that qualify for the CISA (Community 
Involved in Sustaining Agriculture) Local Hero label by 
growing or producing products in the Pioneer Valley 
made from ingredients sourced in the Pioneer Valley. 

Key Local Food Partners
• 12,000+ Weekly Customers & Owners 

• 400+ Local Farmers & Vendors

• CISA  (Community Involved in Sustaining 
Agriculture)

• Grow Food Northampton

• NFCA (Neighboring Food Co-op Association

• NOFA (Northeast Organic Farming Association)

• New England Farmers Union

In FY19, our local purchases increased by $363,260, a 5.9% increase over last year

In Local 
Purchases$6,513,344

Riverland Farm • Sunderland, MA
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172,158lbs
of apples sold

12,340lbs
of maple syrup sold

13,445lbs
of honey sold

14,015lbs
of asparagus sold

24,397lbs
of peaches sold

&We buy from 176 Local 
Farms 224 Local  

Vendors

Your Local FY19 Purchases

12,772gal
of milk sold

High Meadows Farm • Putney, VT
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Growing Good Things Together
An Expedition Easthampton Update  by Rochelle Prunty, General Manager

Thank you for all your support in both our 
Northampton store and our progress on Expedition 
Easthampton. Expedition Easthampton is what we 
are calling our process to build a second River Valley 
Co-op store in Easthampton. Expanding to two stores 
will strengthen our capacity to bring quality food 
choices from great local sources to all the families 
we serve. The enthusiasm and energy you have 
contributed to our efforts is as inspiring as when the 
community came together to open our Northampton 
store over eleven years ago. Support from you, 
as well as from the communities in Northampton 
and Easthampton (and throughout the region) to 
add this new co-op store has been inspiring and 
heartwarming.

We secured the exclusive option to purchase the 
10 acre location of the former Fedor Car Dealership at 
228 Northampton Street in Easthampton in January 
of 2018. About six acres will remain an open wetland 
area, while the other four acres will be developed 
for our new store and the existing Captain Jack’s 
Roadside Shack business. The store is planned to be 
slightly larger than our Northampton store but with 
twice as much parking onsite. It will feature the same 
fresh local food selections we are well known for in 
Northampton, including an extensive prepared foods 
department with a larger seating area inside and out. 

We've been busy this year updating our budget 
and construction plans to bring all the project costs 
within our financial constraints. We are grateful to our 
local contractor (Wright Builders), site civil engineer 
(Berkshire Design Group) and architect (Thomas 
Douglas Architects) for working through these issues 
and preparing to mobilize ASAP on construction.

FINANCING TEAM
We announced in September that we are working with 
Easthampton Savings Bank and several community 
development organizations to secure the funding 
for our second store. The community development 
organizations include the Massachusetts Housing 
Investment Corporation, Vermont Rural Ventures, 
National Community Investment Fund, and Capital 
One Community Investment Fund. We also applied 
for a MassWorks Infrastructure Grant through the 
City of Easthampton. Over 300 co-op owners from 
the community have made individual loans totaling 

$5,198,200 to support this project. We will combine 
Co-op Owner Loans with traditional bank financing 
and economic development funding for a total of over 
$18 million to open our new food co-op. 

The economic development funding comes 
through a federal program called New Markets Tax 
Credits (NMTC) to incentivize investment focused 
on creating jobs as well as providing essential 
community goods and services in qualifying census 
tracts. River Valley Co-op launched its Northampton 
store construction project in 2007 with support from 
this program as well. This program makes possible 
what would otherwise be impossible for a community 
owned business to accomplish on its own. We would 
have never been able to open our Northampton 
store without this funding in 2007, and we wouldn’t 
be launching the Easthampton store project in 2020 
without this support either. 

Congressman Richard Neal has been a big 
supporter on the NMTC funding. “I have long been a 
champion of the New Markets Tax Credits program 
because I see how they are used to transform 
communities and the lives of people who live there,” 
said Congressman Neal. “When NMTCs were on the 
chopping block during the Tax Bill debate, I made 
sure that they were saved because they support 
real, positive impact on our communities and their 
economies. I am confident that the expansion of the 
River Valley Co-op here in Easthampton will be no 
different. Congratulations to Mayor LaChapelle and 
her team, as well as the 
entire River Valley Co-op 
delegation who are 
ensuring that this project 
will come to fruition with 
smart reinvestment and 
revitalization. I am happy 
to be a partner.”

We deeply appreciate 
all our funding partners 
coming together and 
helping us to grow a 
really good thing for 
our community, local 
food producers and our 
employees. 

River Valley Co-op’s Easthampton 
store is being developed by the 
community, for the community!
– Steve Bruner, Board President
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Why Easthampton? We chose Easthampton 
for a second store because:

• Easthampton is well located for a second store 
for the co-op. It is already within the co-op’s 
circle of customers and vendors and a store there 
will strengthen and expand our circle further. The 
Northampton store is doing more than twice as 
much business as we had originally planned for 
and this Easthampton location is close enough 
to take a little pressure (but not too much) off 
our current store, making both stores financially 
sustainable.

• Easthampton is a community that supports local 
businesses. There is a thriving network of like-
minded local businesses in Easthampton that 
support and care about community building and 
working to shape the future to be in alignment 
with those values.

• Easthampton has a site available that appears to 
be able to meet our facility and operating needs. 
It is a challenge to find adequately sized real 
estate for grocery store operations in locations 
that would sustain an independent grocery 
business. River Valley Co-op has secured the 
exclusive option to purchase the former Fedor 
car dealership property on Northampton Road.

The co-op’s goals for expanding include:
• Improved access and service for our Easthampton 

area co-op shoppers

• Expanding the co-op customer base in the 
Easthampton area

• Expanding co-op ownership to more people

• Expanding local food production with increased 
purchases from local farmers and food 
businesses to serve two stores

• Many new jobs including advancement 
opportunities for our employees

• Making the Northampton store less crowded 
while growing the cooperative overall for more 
employee and vendor opportunities

• Utilizing energy efficiency and green technologies 
in the store design

• Making the overall co-op operations more 
financially sustainable for the long term

• Creating a welcoming community/events space

• Working to incorporate Captain Jack’s Roadside 
Shack as part of the new development

“As a resident of Easthampton I’m inspired and filled with gratitude for the amazing level 
of community support for launching the co-op in Easthampton. I am very excited about 
all the good things that will grow with the co-op: more support for local farmers and food 
producers, more full-time union jobs, solar energy generated on site, and more accessible 
local and organically grown foods. Together we are growing something really good!” 
– Emily Laine, River Valley Co-op Board Member
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2008 
Open first store

2011 
First store exceeds 10 year sale projection

2014
First Store keeps growing
Begin Board/co-op ownership discussion  
about expansion
Preliminary second store site search  
and market study
Co-op owner loan campaign completed

2014–2015
Remodel first store
Start site search and begin discussions with  
co-op owners about second store
First store keeps growing

2016–2017
Second store site preliminary feasibility studies  
and property negotiations
First store keeps growing

2018
Secured and announced option on preferred  
second store site
12–18 months for due diligence and fundraising
First store keeps growing

2019
Secured Special Permit approval
Extend property purchase option period for  
purchase through January 18, 2020
Solar Project Approval
First store keeps growing

January 2020
Close on financing and purchase property

February 2020
Start construction on second store

 − Site
 − Building
 − Equipment
 − Décor

Late 2020
Prepare second store for opening

 − Inventory 
 − Signage
 − Staffing

Early 2021
Open for business!

Expedition Easthampton Launch  
Checklist & Status

$5 Million Co-op Owner Loan Funds 
100% Complete
Store Design 
95% Complete

Equipment Selected 
95% Complete

Economic Development Funding 
In Process 

Bank Financing 
In Process

Special Permit 
100% Complete

Solar Project Approval 
In Process

Roadway Infrastructure Permits 
Pending

Roadway Infrastructure Funding 
Pending

Launch Construction Project 
After all items above are complete

Our Co-op's Path & Timeline: One Store to Two Stores

GROWING GOOD THINGS TOGETHER continued from page 19
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We established three new management positions to 
help us to meet our needs and goals last year:

• Expansion Project Manager
• Diversity, Equity, & Inclusion Program Manager
• Category Manager

Here is a little introduction to these three new 
positions and the people that have stepped into 
these new roles to support the next stage of our 
development. 

EXPANSION PROJECT 
MANAGER: Monica Nuñez
Opening a second store is a huge 
project for us. The planning, 
permitting, building, and 
equipping of the store is a major 

complex project in itself. The construction project 
has many stages of pre-development before we even 
get close to putting a shovel in the ground. To ensure 
we had the capacity to do this work well, we added 
an Expansion Project Manager to our team last year. 
We were lucky that we had a long time staff person 
with construction project management experience, 
experience working through the building process 
for our first store, and experience working in our 
store since we opened with deep knowledge of our 
operating needs that could step up to this important 
position: Monica Nuñez. 

Monica is overseeing our project team in their 
work to plan, permit, and build the Easthampton 
store, as well as installing the equipment and 
preparing for opening. Monica started her career with 
River Valley Co-op in 2007, just as the construction 
was beginning on the Northampton store. She 
began holding a dual role of Finance and Human 
Resources Manager. She was also heavily involved in 
construction project meetings and LEED certification 
record-keeping for our Northampton store. She has 
a long history and deep knowledge of our facility, 
operations, finance, and personnel/labor relations.

Prior to the co-op, Monica worked as a 
Production and Finance Manager at a residential/
commercial design build construction agency, 
managing crews, sub-contractors, and all aspects of 
projects start to finish. She also spent many years 
in both Operations and Finance at a cooperative 
natural foods warehouse, overseeing the accounting 
controls and construction process of a 190,000 
square foot new building project, workplace safety 
and loss prevention, and ensuring Federal and State 
compliance for a Tier 3 NH3-based refrigeration 
system. She attended the University of Maryland, 
European Division while proudly serving her country 
in the United States Air Force.

DIVERSITY, EQUITY, & 
INCLUSION PROGRAM 
MANAGER: LaDonna 
Redmond-Sanders
We want to increase our 
capacity and leadership in 

diversity, equity, and inclusion within our co-op to 
better support our employees, our customers, and 
community members. This requires developing a 
program and building upon it as we progress. The 
scope of this calls for specialized expertise, a solid 
understanding of our business operations, and 
intentional development planning.

We had attended several workshops presented 
by LaDonna Redmond-Sanders who had developed 
a diversity, equity, and inclusion program for a food 
co-op in Minneapolis and we wanted to replicate 
that program for our co-op. Fortunately for us 
LaDonna was launching a new consulting business 
working through Columinate Consulting Co-op. She 
was looking to pilot a program for Interim Diversity, 
Equity, and Inclusion Program Management to support 
food co-ops in getting their programs developed and 
established over a two-year period and then assisting 
with training her replacement program manager as 
needed. So we’ve signed onto this pilot program and 
LaDonna got started this summer. She is on site with 
us about one week a month, and also working offsite 
on our program development in between her monthly 
visits.

LaDonna is the former Diversity and Community 
Engagement Manager for the Seward Co-op in 
Minneapolis. She led the co-op’s diversity and 
engagement initiatives that contributed positively to 
organizational culture, marketplace competitiveness, 
and social responsibility. In her role at Seward she 
provided leadership in both the community outreach 
process and internal organizational development 
process of expanding from one store to two.

LaDonna is a community activist who has worked 
on several public health issues throughout her career 
such as substance abuse, violence, and food justice. 
She successfully worked to get Chicago Public Schools 
to eliminate junk food, launched urban agriculture 
projects, started a community grocery store and 
worked on federal farm policies to expand access to 
healthy food in communities of color. She is a 2003 
WK Kellogg Food and Society Policy Fellow and in 
2009 Redmond was one of 25 citizen and business 
leaders named a Responsibility Pioneer by Time 
Magazine. LaDonna has a popular TedxTalk, "Food + 
Justice = Democracy."

In addition to working with us, LaDonna 
is currently a Qualified Administrator of the 

New Positions at the Co-op
Meet the folks filling three new management positions  by Rochelle Prunty, General Manager



22 river valley co•op  FY19 ANNUAL REPORT

Intercultural Development Inventory (IDI) and 
Intercultural Organizational Development Consultant 
and Executive Coach. She consults with cooperatives, 
universities, nonprofit organizations, philanthropic 
organizations, and a variety of small businesses. 
LaDonna is a member-consultant of Columinate, a 
cooperative of consultants that are catalysts for the 
common good. 

LaDonna believes that every community has the 
intellect to heal itself!

CATEGORY MANAGER: 
Christine Toomasi
This is a position that food 
co-ops add as they grow to 
devote more time and expertise 
to product selection, placement, 

and pricing. A Category Manager works closely with 
the department managers and buyers and ensures 
new products are reviewed, selected, and placed 
within the context of the product category to ensure 
the overall variety meets our customer’s needs. 
Establishing these systems makes our department 
managers and buyers jobs easier, while also utilizing 
their expertise and experience responding to in-store 
customer product requests. When we have two 
stores, the Category Manager also oversees systems 
to ensure pricing and promotions are consistent in 
both stores.

Christine Toomasi, our new Category Manager, 
brings a deep knowledge of the natural foods 
industry as well as strong analytical and system 
development skills. She is working closely with the 
Wellness department to support the staff there while 
the department manager is on a leave. In addition 
to the Wellness department she is working closely 
with the Packaged Grocery, Refrigerated, Frozen, and 
Bulk departments to start. We will be expanding the 
department to include systems for the perishable 
departments over the coming year. Christine is also 
collaborating with our IT Manager Nate DeRose to 
lead our POS system upgrade project. 

Christine has worked in the Natural Medicine 
industry for most of her adult life starting her career 
at a retail store called The Herbal Path, working at a 
practitioner-exclusive natural medicine distributor 
called Emerson Ecologics, followed by working at 
Pioneer Nutritional Formulas (a company we carry at 
the co-op!). 

She was born in Iran of Assyrian descent and her 
and her family moved to Germany as refugees when 
Christine was two years old and then to the United 
States when she was six. She grew up observing her 
mother and grandmother use aspects of traditional 
Persian medicine to promote health. This inspired 
her passion to learn about traditional medicine 
from around the world and the use of food, herbs, 
homeopathy, and nutrition to improve health. Most 
of her life, Christine has lived in New Hampshire, but 
over the last eight years, her home has been just a 
couple miles from the co-op in Northampton. 

Over the next few months, she will be working 
closely with many of the co-op staff to develop new 
systems in preparation for the second store opening. 
One goal is to build consistency between both stores. 
One of the systems she's most excited about is the 
development of the new vendor on-boarding process 
that will help streamline new companies partnering 
with the co-op (especially local and cooperative 
suppliers!). Over the long term, her primary focus 
will be conducting scheduled category reviews and 
vendor management related activities.

“Since I joined 
River Valley Co-op 
my time here has 
been AWESOME! 
It is exciting to 
be involved with 
a community-
connected, 
thoughtful 
cooperative that 
employs so many 
amazing people 
from the Pioneer 
Valley."
– Christine Toomasi, Category Manager

NEW POSITIONS AT THE CO-OP continued from page 21
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Supporting Economic Accessibility 
in Co-op Shopping & Ownership

Food for All (FFA) is a needs-based 
program to help better serve low income 
people in our community. FFA purchases 
increased 7.5% over the prior year.

The Low Income Owner Assistance 
Program gives everyone, regardless of 
income, an opportunity to become a 
co-op owner of River Valley Co-op and 
enjoy all the benefits of being an owner of 
the co-op. This program is for people who 
are committed to supporting our co-op 
by becoming owners, but who might not 
otherwise be able to afford to join. We 
increased low income owners using this 
program by 6.7% for a total of 336 last 
year.

$332,946 $333,964

$354,941

$372,316 $370,997

Annual SNAP Sales

$300,000

$350,000

$400,000

20192018201720162015

$44,026
$47,081

$57,956

$80,032

$86,028

Annual Food for All Discounts

$40,000

$60,000

$80,000

$100,000

20192018201720162015

400
Total Food for  

All Participants

336
Total Low  

Income Owners

$86,028
Needs-Based Grocery Discounts 

$370,997
In SNAP Sales
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MOBILE MARKET
In 2019 we became the primary sponsor ($15,000) of Grow 
Food Northampton’s Mobile Market at Hampshire Heights 
and Meadowbrook in Northampton, MA that brings local 
produce to the low-income community at discounted prices. 
The co-op supplies some of the fresh and local products for 
the mobile markets.

EASTHAMPTON CLASSROOMS
This fall our sponsorship is supporting the launch of a new 
program for Easthampton schools: Easthampton Classroom 
Cooking Workshops – offering all of GFN’s classroom 
workshops as well as field trips to the farm in the spring to 
all of the first-grade classes.

Did you know?
In the 1700s, Grow Food Northampton’s land was part 
of the Northampton Society of Education and Industry, 
a cooperative community founded by the abolitionists’ 
community including Sojourner Truth. This cooperative 
society established a silk industry here as an alternative 
to slave-grown cotton and grew sugar beets as an 
alternative to slave-grown cane sugar. Now, this farmland 
is community-owned to help support new farmers, provide 
education about and access to land for growing local food! Produce Manager Henry with Michael Skillicorn, Director of Programs at Grown Food Northampton

Pictures from Grow Food Northampton kids farm tour, classroom events, and mobile market. Images © Grow Food Northampton

One of Our Key Local Food Partners:
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C
o-op Staff
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Plastics Update
Exploring Alternatives To Plastic Packaging

Since opening in 2008, River Valley Co-op has 
implemented a variety of internal waste diversion 
programs, including comprehensive recycling and 
composting, Food Bank donations, and reuse of 
pallets and produce containers. We’ve also worked to 
provide store packaging that is either recyclable or 
compostable from the start. However, the shortage 
of markets for plastic recycling has caused us to 
seriously re-think the viability of consumer plastic 
recycling and make a shift further away from fossil 
fuel-based recyclable plastic packaging and to seek 
even more plant- and fiber-based packaging options. 
We set a goal to replace fossil fuel plastics in our 
instore packaging by the fall of 2019. 

Assistant Operations Manager 
Juli Colón has taken the lead 
on our project to replace 
fossil fuel-based plastics. She 
reached out to RecyclingWorks 
in Massachusetts for assistance 
reviewing the co-op’s new 

procurement plan to reduce single-use plastic. After 
a site visit, RecyclingWorks staff provided a set of 
recommendations, including an overview of potential 
alternatives to plastic packaging. 

Earlier this year, the co-op started rolling out a 
series of changes. This included replacing petroleum-
based packaging with compostable alternatives and 
increasing inventory of reusable produce bags and 
containers, which have seen an increase in sales 
after displaying them in high visibility locations. 
We also hung educational signage to increase 
customer awareness of these changes and the co-op’s 
sustainability goals. We are encouraging customers to 
bring back plant based compostable containers to us 
for industrial composting if it is not available to them 
at home. A bin for this is outside at the front of the 
store. 

We’re very close to reaching our goal for 
replacing recyclable plastic packaging with some 
form of compostable packaging. It will be an ongoing 
process of replacing packaging with better products 
as the packaging industry catches up with our 
environmental needs. Our society has spent the 
last 40 years expanding fossil fuel based single use 
plastics and now our oceans and environment are 
overflowing with plastic pollution. Now we must 
reverse the course and make changes as quickly as 
possible to eliminate plastic packaging. 

Our co-op is taking these first steps with 
packaging that we purchase for in store use and there 
will be more to come to improve on that as we move 
forward. 

RecyclingWorks estimates that the co-op will 
reduce our annual single-use plastic consumption 
by approximately 411,000 pieces per year, amounting 
to about 1.37 tons of plastic diverted from the 
waste stream as a result of these recent changes. 
That shows how a lot of little things can make a big 
difference. 

Thank you for your support as we go through  
this process!

“It was a pleasure working with a retailer that is 
so committed to environmental sustainability and 
that was prepared to implement real measures 
to reduce single-use plastics storewide. From 
introducing reusable and compostable bags in the 
produce department, to encouraging customers 
to use paper or bring their own containers for 
bulk foods, to switching to compostable-ware 
for their prepared foods, River Valley Co-op is a 
leader in green procurement and is empowering 
their patrons to be greener shoppers.” 
– Ashley Muspratt, RecyclingWorks
RecyclingWorks is a recycling assistance program that helps 
businesses and institutions maximize recycling, reuse, and food 
waste diversion opportunities. To learn more about their no-cost 
technical assistance, call their hot line: (888) 254-5525 or email 
them at info@recyclingworksma.com

This year we made the switch from using plastic bags for our deli meats and cheeses to 
using compostable paper
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Reduced Waste Shopping Guide
Reduced Waste (or “zero waste”) is the lifestyle choice of working to reduce trash in one's daily life. It addresses the system 
of how items are made, used, and disposed of. Reduced Waste shopping seeks to reduce the amount of trash in our landfills 
and incinerators by purchasing products that are less toxic, can be recycled, reused or composted, and that are made in a 
more sustainable manner.

Everyone’s Journey to a Reduced Waste  
Lifestyle is Different

1. Establish why you would like to reduce the amount of 
waste that you or your family produces. Whatever your 
reason, use it to keep you focused and motivated! 

2. It’s important to be realistic and remember it’s not 
about buying all the Reduced Waste items you can. 
Reuse what you have as many times as possible, and as 
items break down, replace them with more sustainable 
choices. A Reduced Waste lifestyle may not be possible 
in every aspect of your life or household, and that’s 
okay!

3. Choose what works for you. We all have different 
lifestyles and organizational styles. If something 
doesn’t feel right, or if you’re struggling with an aspect 
of this change, put it aside and revisit it later. The 
important thing is that you find a system that works for 
you and your household.

4. It’s easy to feel like your every day actions don’t make a 
difference, but they do. A Reduced Waste lifestyle isn’t 
about being perfect; it’s about being aware and making 
small changes that move us all toward a world with less 
waste.

Tip for Reduced Waste Shopping at the Co-op

• Shopping List: Making a shopping list helps you 
visualize how many bags and containers you may need.

• Bring Your Own Bags & Containers: Keep bags by the 
door or in your car so it’s easier to remember them. 
Use cloth or paper bags for produce, and bring glass or 
plastic containers for bulk items. Bring your containers 
to Customer Service to be weighed before filling them.

• Bulk Up: Shop our bulk department for rice, beans, 
snacks, coffee, tea, baking essentials, household items 
like dish and laundry soap, and much more. Buy as little 
or as much as you need. Bulk products are identical 
to their packaged counterparts but usually cost less 
because you’re not paying for the packaging and you are 
not buying more than you need. 

• Minimal Packaging: If you’re deciding between similar 
items, choose the product that has less packaging, 
or comes in recycled packaging, or is easiest for you 
to reuse. As a general rule, opt for items packaged in 
paper, cardboard, or glass over those in plastic.

• Say No to Single-Use: Skip single-use items every 
chance you get by saying no to stir sticks, bags, straws, 
and to-go containers. If you’re eating at the co-op 
hot bar or salad bar, use our plates and utensils. If 
you don’t finish your meal, we’ll gladly give you a 
compostable container to take the leftovers home.

• Compost What You Can: Composting at home is a 
great way to reduce every day food waste. With 

compostable packaging check the label to ensure its 
biodegradable or home compostable first. If it looks like 
plastic, (including our produce bags, drink cups, to-go 
containers, utensils, and straws) but is compostable, it 
is probably going to require industrial composting. The 
co-op sells a range of sizes of compostable bags for 
just this purpose. Many communities accept household 
food waste as well as these other items at their local 
transfer station, and there are local businesses that 
will pick up all your compostable waste and ensure it 
goes to industrial compost facilities where it can be 
safely broken down for you! If you don’t have access to 
industrial compost pick-up you can bring your co-op 
containers back to the co-op and we’ll send it to be 
composted. There is a bin outside in front of the store 
for returned compostable co-op containers

Commonly Used Words & Acronyms
Sustainability: The act of meeting the needs of the present 
in a way that does not prevent future generations to meet 
their own needs.

PET: Polyethylene terephthalate is the most common type 
of plastic and can be found in most aspects of life in one 
form or another. It is derived from nonrenewable petroleum 
based materials. Many kinds of packaging are made from 
the various forms of PET (plastics #1-7) which become 
unrecyclable when combined with multiple different types 
of plastic, which reduces the chances of successfully 
breaking down their components and recycling them. 

PLA: Polylactic Acid is a type of plastic that is derived from 
renewable (plant-based) materials. Products made from 
this are designed to look and act similarly to their PET 
counterparts, with the difference being that they can be 
composted rather than landfilled or recycled. If incinerated 
they do not release toxic pollutants like incineration of 
fossil fuel based plastics. Most PLA containers will have 
their content clearly labeled to assist in ensuring they end 
up in the correct containers. The packaging may feature 
words and phrases such as BPI certified, heat-based 
compostable, eco-friendly, PLA/PHA. Not every PLA-based 
product will be home compostable. Many require industrial 
compost facilities. 

Industrial/Heat-based Compostable: Organically derived 
products that must find their way to an industrial facility in 
order to be successfully and safely broken down to its base 
materials. Requires constant heat, oxygen, and moisture 
control.

Recycled Content: Any materials in a product that have 
completed a full life cycle and have been returned, cleaned, 
and reused in a new product. Content % varies from product 
to product.

Waste Diversion: Efforts that aim to reduce the amount 
of waste going to landfills and incinerators, be it through 
composting, recycling, or upcycling materials.
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My Trip to Ecuador with  
Equal Exchange  by Derek Ritchie, Assistant Produce Manager

This June I was gifted a trip to Ecuador through Equal 
Exchange Oke USA (the importing arm of the Equal 
Exchange) to tour some of the banana cooperative 
farms that they receive their bananas from, the ports 
they’re shipped from, and Asoguabo, the cooperative 
who distributes the bananas.

Having been an organic farmer for 20 years and 
a produce buyer for River Valley Co-op for five, I’ve 
done much research on the banana industry in the 
past and I am always interested in the realities of 
the product I’m selling. No research can do justice 
for what I experienced; the volume of bananas in this 
area is almost unbelievable. There is no tourism in 
this area, only banana plantations of all types and 
people who work on them. The people’s housing is 
extremely simple, most doors and windows are just 
hanging blankets with a few exceptions thrown in 
and everything is surrounded by bananas. We drove 
for two hours one day and saw nothing but banana 
plants with an occasional cacao plantation and small 
workers villages. We visited low-land and mountain 
plantations each unique in their growing practices.

Though the volume of bananas was impressive, 
visiting and learning about the Asoguabo banana 
cooperative was the most impressive part of the trip. 
I’m not going to get into the history of bananas, but 
in short governments have been overthrown and 
endless blood has been shed so we can walk into 
any food store in America and buy an inexpensive 
banana.

Asoguabo was started to help small banana 
farmers have a say in this massive industry and 
to make sure they are paid at least a sustainable 
wage for their fruit. The farmer becomes a part 
of the cooperative, having a say in the decision 
making about their product. Being the first and most 
successful banana co-op in the world, there are over 
180 farmers selling through Asoguabo, and over 200 
on a waiting list.

The Fair Trade premium from each box of 
bananas that goes through Asoguabo goes into a 
nonprofit designed to give back to the communities 
around them. We toured a medical facility that’s free 
to members and only $1 a visit for anyone else in the 

community. We visited a school for women that 
teaches culinary skills, computer programming, 

and a few other trades to help women of the 
area be more self-sufficient – all 

free of charge. We learned 
about a new water 
purification system 

for a village of about 
30 families who were getting 

sick due to all the chemicals and 

heavy metals in the ground water due to the banana 
industry. None of those families are members of 
Asoguabo, they just needed help and now their water 
is more pure than bottled water. We also visited a 
school Asoguabo gave money to for a new roof and 
flushing toilets. As a thank you, the kids did a moving 
performance and presentation for us. The list goes on 
and on.

Every time you purchase an Equal Exchange 
banana from River Valley Co-op, just know that 
you’re doing way more than just getting a really good 
product and supporting the co-op –– your actually 
enhancing and literally saving people’s lives. Think 
about that the next time you enjoy one!

Top: Bananas are inspected and packed at Asoguabo
Bottom: Derek with the family that runs Finca Filadelfia farm
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River Valley Co-op is a member of several different co-ops 
including the National Co-op Grocers (NCG), Associated 
Grocers of New England (AGNE), Frontier Co-op, and FEDCO.

We buy and sell co-op produced foods and products 
including: Equal Exchange, Frontier Co-op, Our Family Farms, 
Alaffia, Organic Valley, Cabot Creamery, Real Pickles, Artisan 
Beverage Co-op, Birds and Beans, and La Riojana.

We work with all kinds of co-ops and co-op 
associations, including UMass Five College Credit Union, 
Columinate Consulting Co-op, The Neighboring Food Co-op 
Association (NFCA), Valley Alliance of Worker Co-ops (VAWC), 
PVSquared (Pioneer Valley Photo Voltaics), Collective Copies, 
Twin Pines Cooperative Foundation, Cooperative Fund of 

New England (CFNE), National Cooperative Bank (NCB), 
Local Enterprise Assistance Fund (LEAF), and the National 
Cooperative Business Association (NCBA).

La Riojana Cooperative produces Argentinian fair 
trade wines and olive oil. Their US distribution 
is exclusively with food co-ops. 2019 was our 
fourth year having Riojana at our co-op and sales 
were $55,678, for a total of 7,561 bottles sold 
last year and is one of our top selling wines. La 
Riojana’s 100% commitment to implementing and 
following the principles of Fair Trade are perfectly 
illustrated by the investment they have made with 
their Fair Trade premium towards the health of 
their community: building a community center, a 
local clinic and primary school in Tilimuqui.

Artisan Beverage Cooperative is a worker-owned cooperative based 
in Greenfield that was founded in 2013. We carry their Katalyst 
Kombucha (in bottles and on tap!), Ginger Libation, and Green River 
Ambrosia. You'll frequently find the ABC team at the store doing 
tastings, delivering products, or just picking up groceries!

ABC worker-owners at our 2019 Strawberry Ice Cream Social

Cooperation Among 
Cooperatives

La Riojana Co-op  
Wines & Olive Oil  

Sold in FY19

7,561 
BOTTLES

$6,200,000
NCG Purchases

$1,383,089
Other Co-op Purchases

$7,583,089
FY19 Purchases Supporting Cooperative Vendors

ARTISAN BEVERAGE 
COOPERATIVE
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Donations from Strawberry Ice Cream Social to 
Welcome Home Refugee Resettlement Program$3,316

Every year in June, we host a Strawberry Ice Cream Social 
to kick off the local summer growing season, raising funds 
for worthy causes, and to announce our Co-op Hero Award 
winners. Nominated by our co-op owners, we honor four of 
our co-ops' partners: a nonprofit, a business, a farm, and an 
individual that nurtures and sustains cooperative values in 
our community.

RECEIVING THE $500 AWARDS THIS YEAR WERE:

NONPROFIT: Welcome Home Refugee Resettlement Program, 
a program of Catholic Charities of Springfield. This program 
operates in Easthampton, Northampton and Amherst and 
works to meet the basic needs of refugees and to support 
them to rebuild their lives. With the help of volunteers, 
refugees find homes, access education, and secure jobs. 
River Valley Co-op is proud to have six resettled individuals 
on staff. River Valley Co-op works on a triple bottom line of 
people, planet, profit. The help of Welcome Home Refugee 
Resettlement Program beautifully amplifies the people 
dimension of our business. 

INDIVIDUAL: Emily Kawano played an instrumental part in 
starting Wellspring Cooperative in Springfield and bringing 
new community based job creation to the area. Emily is 
the founder and co-director of Wellspring Cooperative 
in Springfield, Massachusetts. Previously she was the 
director of the Center for Popular Economics, a collective 
of economists dedicated to helping people understand 
how the economy works. She also worked with the Irish 

Congress of Trade Unions on popular economics in Belfast, 
North Ireland, served as Economic Justice staffer at the 
American Friends Service Committee in Philadelphia, and 
taught economics at Smith College. Emily is a founder and 
coordinator of the U.S. Solidarity Economy Network. Emily 
lives and breathes co-op values and her work on community 
and community production is inspiring.

FARM: Crimson and Clover Farm shows incredible 
sustainable practices, community involvement and work 
on food accessibility. They host volunteer days, workshops, 
events, celebrations on the farm for all to enjoy, and 
operate a CSA. Last year they partnered with Grow Food 
Northampton Mobile Markets along with River Valley Co-op 
to bring affordable fresh food to low income neighborhoods. 
Crimson and Clover is a valuable community partner that 
shares our mission of nourishing the community.

BUSINESS: Artisan Beverage Cooperative works to 
collaborate with a lot of our local farmers and Equal 
Exchange to include local, organic and fair trade ingredients 
in their products. They are a worker owned co-op that got 
its start with the Franklin County CDC where Green River 
Ambrosia and Katalyst Kombucha teamed up to merge their 
independent businesses into a worker-owner cooperative. 
They were founded on strong missions to promote 
environmental stewardship, democratic governance, 
sustainable agriculture, and building a strong local 
economy, and by joining together they could increase their 
community impact through efficiencies in operations.

2019 Austin Miller  
Co-op Hero Awards
Honoring Those Making a Difference in Our Community

Left to right: Welcome Home Refugee Resettlement Program; Emily Kawano; Artisan Beverage Cooperative
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Giving 
Back
We made significant 
contributions to local 
nonprofits and community 
organizations to support 
their work, special events, 
and fundraising efforts 
totaling $176,621. An increase 
of $17,706 from last year!

AUSTIN MILLER CO-OP HERO  
AWARD RECIPIENTS
We lcome Home Refugee  

Resettlement Program ................. $3,466
Emily Kawano ......................................... $500
Artisan Beverage .................................. $500
Crimson And Clover .............................. $500

BULK GIFT CARDS
Through our “Scrip” program, local schools, 
churches, and nonprofits purchase co-op 
gift cards in bulk at 5% or 10% discount 
and sell them at full price to raise funds 
for their organizations. We sold $235,345 in 
bulk gift cards and contributed $21,067 in 
discounts. Any nonprofit can apply for our 
scrip program to qualify for a bulk co-op 
gift card discount to use for fundraising for 
their organizations.

COMMUNITY SUPPORT
Sponsorships, underwriting, and in-kind 
donations: $150,588

Major Cash Sponsorships Over $1,000  
(totaling $128,220):

Art in the Orchard ................................. $2,500
Asparagus Festival ............................... $2,500
Bill Gessner Fund .................................. $5,000
Center for New Americans ................. $1,000
Chili Fest .................................................. $1,000
Click Space Winter Series .................. $1,000
Co mmunity Involved in  

Sustaining Agriculture ................... $17,250
Cooperative Developmental Fund .. $5,015
Da kin Pioneer Valley  

Humane Society ............................... $5,000
Double Edge Theater ........................... $1,000
Easthampton City Arts ........................ $5,000
Fo od Bank of Western MA/ 

Monte’s March ................................... $2,500
Food Bank of Western MA/WB4F ..... $2,000
Gardening the Community................. $1,000
Grow Food Northampton ................... $5,000
Hi tchcock Center for  

the Environment  .............................. $3,000

Ke strel Land Trust  
5K for Farmland ................................ $1,000

Mill Pond Live ......................................... $30,000
Mister G’s Halloween Fiesta 2017 .... $2,000
Northampton Pride .............................. $1,000
Northampton Rotary Club ................. $1,000
North Star Center for Teens .............. $5,000
Pi oneer Valley Workers Center 

Cooperative Farm ............................. $1,000
Pur Planet Co-op Forest ..................... $2,065
PV Grows Forum .................................... $1,000
UFCW Assistance Fund ........................ $1,000
Valley Free Radio .................................. $1,080
WAMC Northeast Public Radio ......... $7,667
WFCR New England Public Radio ..... $16,508
Whole Children ...................................... $1,000

Other Sponsorships, Underwriting,  
and In-Kind Donations

Academy of Music
Arcadia Wildlife Sanctuary
Abundance Farm 
Beit Ahavah
Big Brothers Big Sister
Bridge Street School
Cancer Connection
Circles for Jewish Living
Chester Historical Society
Cloa’s Ark Animal Sanctuary
Clickspace
Cloverdale Preschool
Comedy as a Weapon
Co mmunity Involved in  

Sustaining Agriculture (CISA)
Common Share Food Co-op
Congregation B’nai Israel
Cottage Street Studios
Cutchins Programs for Children & Families
Dakin Pioneer Valley Humane Society
Dance New England
Doctors for Global Health
Double Edge Theater
Easthampton Arts Council
Easthampton High School
Extra Life
First Churches
Flairs Makers Market
Florence Night Out
Food Bank of Western MA
Forbes Library
Friends of Forbes, INC
Gandara Center
Gardening the Community
Girls on the Run
Grassroots Community
Grow Food Northampton
Hadley Council of Aging
Happy Valley Comedy
The Hartsbrook School
Hatfield Book Club
Hatfield Elementary School 
Healing Across the Divide
Help Yourself!
Hike for What’s Right
Historic Northampton
Hitchcock Center
Jackson Street School 
Lake Wyola Association Inc.
Language Institute 
Laudable Productions
Laurel Park Association
Leeds PTO
Lighthouse
Local Voice

Manna Soup Kitchen
Maple Days
Mass Bike Fest
Mass Bike Pioneer Valley
New England Adventures
New England Public Radio
Newspapers in Education 
National Scrabble Club
Nolumbeka Project
Nonotuck Community School
Northampton Arts Council
Northampton Center of the Arts
Northampton Community Rowing
Northampton Community Television
Northampton Cycling Club Bike Fest
Northampton Education Foundation
Northampton High School Robotics Team
Northampton Neighbors
Northampton Print and Book Fair
Northampton Public School
Northampton PTO
Northampton Senior Services
Northampton Rotary Club
Northampton Survival Center
Northeast Organic Farming Association
North Star Self-Directed Learning for Teens
Out for Reel
Pathlight
Paradise City Dragon Boat Race
Pediatric Hydrocephalus Foundation
Pelham Elementary School
Pioneer Valley Ballet
Pioneer Valley Habitat for Humanity
Pioneer Valley Jazz Shares
Pioneer Valley Performing Arts Charter
Pioneer Valley Symphony 
Pioneer Valley Worker’s Center
Porter Phelps Huntington Museum
Rock Voices
Royal Frog Ballet
RSVP of Hampshire & Franklin Counties
Safe Passage
School for Contemporary Dance
Soldier On 
Sojourner Truth Committee
Sojourner Truth School for Social Change
Southern Poverty Law Center
Smashing Pumpkins
STArHs
Strong and Pleasant Music Festival
Sunnyside Early Childhood Center
Threads Art Collective
Transperformance
Treehouse Foundation
UFCW
Under the Bridge
United Arc
Unitarian Society
Valley Educational Associates
Valley Pride Prom
Volunteers in Northampton Schools
Watermelon Wednesdays, Inc.
Western MA Climber’s Association
Wes tern Regional 4-H Show
Westhampton Book Club
Westhampton Library
West Cummington Congregational Church
Whole Children
Williston School
Young at Heart
Young Shakespeare Players East
Zanta Period Project

Our customers contributed $2,918 to The 
Food Bank of Western Massachusetts 
in FY18 through the Check Out Hunger 
Program! 



32 river valley co•op  FY19 ANNUAL REPORT

Be a Co•op Green Scout!

Every stamp card filled is 
entered in a monthly drawing 
for a chance to win a $50 co-op 
gift card! Using the stamp card 
makes your bag reuse count. 
Thanks to everyone for making 
the Co-op Green Scout Program 
successful by reusing bags and 
supporting our local nonprofits!

The Co-op Green Scout Program is our reusable 
grocery bag incentive program. We encourage reuse 
with a Co-op Green Stamp for each reusable bag 
you fill while shopping at the co-op. When you’ve 
completed your card with ten stamps, you can 
redeem it for an official embroidered Co-op Green 
Scout badge, $1 off your purchase, or a donation to 
the Co-op Green Stamp nonprofit of the month.

2018–2019 Green Stamp Donation Recipients

JULY Whole Children

AUGUST Will Bike 4 Food

SEPTEMBER Will Bike 4 Food

OCTOBER Manna Soup Kitchen

NOVEMBER  Sojourner Truth School for 
Social Change Leadership

DECEMBER  Friends of Hampshire County 
Homeless Individuals, Inc.

JANUARY CI SA (Community Involved in 
Sustaining Agriculture)

FEBRUARY Kestrel Land Trust

MARCH Gardening the Community

APRIL Center for EcoTechnology

MAY Broad Brook Coalition

JUNE Welco me Home Refugee  
Resettlement Project 

Co•op Green Stamps
Fill your card with stamps and check one of the 
following options: o cash o donate o badge

Be
 a

 c
o -

op
 g

re
en

 sc
ou

t!

Based on the number of  
completed Green Stamp Cards in 

FY19 co-op shoppers diverted

185,700
grocery bags from the landfill

Through the Green Stamp Program 
co-op shoppers donated 

$10,586
to local nonprofits in FY19
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ALTERNATIVE TRANSPORTATION

256
Bicycle Benefits Members

GREEN ELECTRICITY

100%
from constellation energy, Co-op  

Power, and about 5% from our own solar panels

MINIMAL PACKAGING

$2,382,144
worth of bulk products sold

FARMER PICKUP

27.3 tons

COMPOST

125.2 tons

FOOD DONATIONS

39.4 tons

*RECYCLING

125.8 tons

We reduced our fossil fuel based plastic 
packaging by 410,00 pieces per year, 
amounting to about 1.37 tons of plastic 

eliminated in the waste system

OF CARDBOARD

*We also recycled all our tin, glass, and plastic containers as well as office paper. 
However, we do not have data on total tons.

Co+op Forest
Through donations at the registers, you helped us 
to raise $4,000 in funds to plant 700 trees in the 
Co+op Forest in Peru which will offset  50% of our 
store operations carbon footprint. We measured 
463 metric tons of CO2 for 2019. The Co+op Forest 
is in Alto Huayabamba and Alto Shamboyacu and 
managed by PUR Projet an Indigenous owned and 
operated cooperative forest.

Thank you for your donations!
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Chairpersons and Committee members:

My name is Mark Devlin and I serve as Treasurer for 
River Valley Co-op's Board of Directors. I am here 
today, along with Natasha Latour our Marketing 
Manager, representing River Valley Co-op, a 
consumer-owned cooperative retail grocery in 
Northampton, MA. We are cooperatively owned by 
over 10,000 families that value social justice and 
strengthening our local food system. We are here to 
speak in favor of the Work and Family Mobility Act.

 River Valley Co-op buys from over 400 local 
farms and food producers throughout our region. 
Local farmers and farm workers are important to our 
community as well as our grocery business, and this 
bill supports our shared interests. As a grocery store, 
we are very aware that the US food system depends 
heavily on immigrant labor. Immigrant farm workers 
contribute to our local economy and enrich our local 
culture. They are central to our business and many 
of the local producers that supply our store. We 
support this bill because it is in alignment with our 
cooperative values, the values of our community, and 
the needs of all our community members. We support 

this bill because it allows all community members, 
regardless of immigration status, the ability to legally 
drive to work, doctor's appointments, the grocery 
store, the drug store, school, or other purpose that 
many of us take for granted. We support this bill 
because it allows all community members to drive 
without risking detention and possible deportation.

We at River Valley Co-op stand behind our 
city’s 2016 Sanctuary City Resolution, including the 
continuing policy of the city of Northampton to 
assure equal, just and fair treatment of all persons 
who live in, and visit our city. Northampton has been, 
and continues to be, enriched by the contributions 
of community members who have traveled from all 
points of the globe to make Massachusetts their 
home.

As a community-owned grocery store, engaged 
in supporting social justice and the ongoing 
development of the local food movement, it is 
important for River Valley Co-op to support this bill 
as a step in supporting the welling being, safety and 
human rights of our immigrant community members. 

We thank you for this opportunity today.

River Valley Co-op’s testimony of support

On September 4, 2019 Mark Devlin, Board Treasurer 
and I traveled to the State House in support of the 
Work and Family Mobility Act which was presented by 
Lawmakers Senator Brendan Crighton (SD. 1143) and 
Representative Tricia Farley-Bouvier.

If approved, it would permit all qualified 
residents, regardless of immigration status, to receive 
a standard driver's license under the state's now-
two-tiered system. The legislation would not affect 
federal Real ID-compliant licenses, which require 
proof of citizenship or lawful residence as well as a 
social security number. 

Rose Bookbinder from the Pioneer Valley Workers 
Center reached out to us in hopes that we could join 
with the many local organizations and legislations 
that have mobilized across Massachusetts to come 
out to support the passing of the Bill and give an oral 
testimony. We were delighted to be able to deliver 

our testimony with CISA and Michael Docter from 
Winter Moon Roots Farms at our side. At the end of 
all our testimonies, Representative Lindsay Sabadosa 
of Northampton quickly took to the microphone and 
said that she felt proud to be a co-op owner and that 
was truly special to hear in such a place.

It was both an exciting experience and absolutely 
nerve racking for many reasons. Most of the 
testimonies were inspiring and filled with positivity. 
Some left me in tears. A few left me scared and 
unsettled. I’m the daughter of immigrants. I have 
always looked at my parents in awe for the strength 
and courage they had to leave their country in pursuit 
of someplace better, someplace safer, someplace to 
build a better future. I will forever be grateful for their 
hard work and determination to give my brother and I 
hope and opportunity.

Testifying at the 
State House to 
Support Work & 
Family Mobility Act
by Natasha Latour, Marketing Manager
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Picnic Presentations
FREE Children’s Series Joy in July & Animals in August

11:00 AM ON OUR DECK     EVERY WEDNESDAY IN JULY

Community Workshops 
& Picnic Presentations

Our community education program and free 
workshop series grew in FY19, with many interesting 
and popular offerings. With over 21 workshops this 
year, we filled our Community Room to maximum 
capacity on numerous occasions. 

Bunnies from Laurel Ledge Farm FibersTrevor the Games Man

FREE WORKSHOP

Wednesday, March 27, 2019

6:30-8:00pm

Worm 
Composting

Basics
with Ben Goldberg

FREE WORKSHOPThursday, April 11, 20196:30-8:00pm

Kitchen Herbs for Family Wellness
with local herbalist and parent Adrie Rose

Our workshops are open to 
everyone and we welcomed 

over 475 people this year. 
Many coming to the co-op 

for the first time!

Our free Picnic Presentations children's series on our 
deck every Wednesday in July and August features 
fun, educational, and hands-on presentations 
from local performers, farmers, and organizations. 
An annual summer tradition, these presentations 
are organized by co-op volunteer (and one of our 
founding owners) Trevor the Games Man, and they are 
always a huge hit with the local community. Thank 
you to the presenters for another great summer, 
all of our community members who came out every 
Wednesday, and to Trevor for all of his work to make 
it happen!



36 river valley co•op  FY19 ANNUAL REPORT

Michael Abbate

As an avid supporter of the 
local food movement, I would 
like to bring my finance and 
previous experience with local 
agriculture to River Valley’s 
Board of Directors. I have spent 

the bulk of my career working at non-profits including 
Free Press, Common Capital, CISA and Washington 
Tilth and have spent many years volunteering for 
Gardening the Community in Springfield. When I was 
asked to join the board I was excited to bring my 
skills to help the co-op continue its growth plans and 
purchase even more local food! I bring a level-headed 
approach to problem solving that strives to hear all 
perspectives in order to reach a common ground 
solution. I have extensive experience with strategic 
planning, budgeting and a deep understanding of 
the organic farming movement tracing back to the 
days when the Federal Organic Standards were under 
development. I also want to support the co-op’s goal 
of being more inclusive and accessible to all members 
of our community. 

Previously, I was a member of the PV Grows 
Investment Fund Advisory Committee for many years 
and an active participant in the broader PV Grows 
network. I have been a member of the co-op for many 
years and also patronize other local farm outlets 
including Atlas Farm (less than a mile from my home 
in South Deerfield) and actively promote the purchase 
of local farm products. The vibrant farm community 
in the Pioneer Valley is one reason I resettled here 
over 20 years ago. As we all know, supporting our 
local farms not only preserves active farmland, it 
contributes to the vibrancy of our community and 
creates a more sustainable local food web in the face 
of global climate change. 

On a more personal level, I have a deep 
appreciation of the natural world and prefer to 
spend my time in the woods and mountains hiking or 
kayaking. I appreciate your consideration for 
the board.

Board of 
Directors 
Election & 
Candidate 
Statements
One of the most important ways you can 
participate and make your voice heard in a co-op 
is by voting in the election for the Board of 
Directors.

The annual Board of Directors Election is 
underway and ends December 6th, 2019 (the 
night of the co-op’s Annual Meeting). There are 
three seats up for election (we stagger terms for 
the nine directors so one-third are elected every 
year).

The River Valley Co-op Board of Directors 
nominate applicants (indicated on the ballot 
form) who meet a minimum set of qualifications 
to be candidates for the Board. We are pleased 
to announce all five of the 2019 applicants for 
Board positions were nominated by the Board 
and are now seeking your support by a vote in 
this election. Candidates on the 2019 ballot have 
committed to making a significant commitment to 
the co-op and each candidate brings with them a 
depth of experience and perspective. Vote for 3 
candidates.

We will be using Simply Voting, a third-
party election service, again this year. This will 
be our fourth year with Simply Voting, which 
has increased voter participation with online 
voting. Simply Voting mails each co-op owner 
a ballot and instructions for either online or 
mail-in voting, as well as tallying both electronic 
and paper votes. Each owner will have a secure 
password for accessing the online ballot. 

If you prefer to deliver your paper ballot to 
the store's Customer Service desk or bring it to 
the Annual Meeting, that is still an option. Our 
co-op benefits from good leadership—thank you 
for voting in this year’s election!

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
your VOTE counts!

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

It's easy to 
vote online!

Look for your ballot in the mail!
Email nlatour@rivervalley.coop if you need assistance.
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Mark Devlin incumbent

I have thoroughly enjoyed 
serving on the River Valley Co-op 
Board of Directors in 2019 and 
would be honored to continue 
serving in 2020. I was asked 
by my Board peers to join the 

Executive Committee and was voted into the officer 
role of Treasurer. Our co-op is necessarily expanding 
to accommodate just under 11,000 owners and their 
$30 million in grocery purchases, and it is my genuine 
privilege to help steward this successful expansion.

I was asked to assume one of the key roles on 
the Co-op Owner Loan Committee, in support of our 
second store expansion. In speaking with hundreds 
of owners, I was surprised to be doing far less talking 
about loan terms and interest rates, and to be doing 
far more listening about building community through 
cooperation. I was really moved by your knowledge 
of, care for, and commitment to our co-op. And of 
course, I was truly humbled by the $5 million you 
collectively invested in supporting and expanding this 
cooperative. I had many similar conversations with 
proud, engaged co-op owners at the Annual Meeting, 
Strawberry Ice Cream Social, Millpond Live events, 
and the Will Bike 4 Food fundraiser. This is clearly 
your cooperative.

I was recently asked to help represent the co-op 
by testifying at the State House in support of the 
Driver’s License Bill. To me, recognizing privilege and 
valuing difference are critical components in defining 
meaningful work. I am increasingly aware of my own 
privilege, and it is essential to me to purposefully 
do my part in supporting existing, and creating new 
opportunities for individuals who have historically 
not been afforded such opportunities. I was humbled 
to advocate for our immigrant community members in 
recognition of their hard work and human rights.

My passion for social justice and cooperative 
business, along with my skills gained from 30 years 
of corporate financial services leadership work with 
GE and Berkshire Hathaway, I believe position me 
well to help our co-op thrive and deliver on its triple 
bottom line by positively impacting our People and 
our Planet, while generating a Profit for our owners. 
This profit ensures the sustainability to benefit our 
employees, local producers, and community.

Wendy Messerli

I am currently the Senior 
Bookkeeper on staff at River 
Valley Co-op. I came to the valley 
16 years ago to attend Hampshire 
College and have called it home 
since. I dropped out when I was 

unable to find the thread that would narrow my focus 
or career path; a community garden plot helped 
me realize that food was that thread. Over the past 
seven years, the co-op has given me the opportunity 
to use my detail and systems oriented skills to work 
directly with our local food system and I finished my 
BA in Sustainability Studies through UWW at UMass 
Amherst.

I oversee and supervise many day-to-day 
operations that involve the co-op’s financial well-
being. I have a deep institutional knowledge of the 
business, and all of the stakeholders that we touch–
owners, vendors, farmers, and staff. You may also 
recognize me from my role in our successful 2019 
campaign to raise $5M in Co-op Owner Loans.

Our co-op and the cooperative movement are 
very important to me and I would be honored to 
serve in a governance role in addition to being a 
staff member. It would provide me with a new level 
of training in my cooperative education and propel 
a deeper understanding of co-op leadership and 
governance.

 For six years I volunteered with the Prison Birth 
Project designing print materials for this nonprofit 
that provided support, training, and advocacy at the 
intersection of reproductive justice and the criminal 
justice system. I took with me from this work the 
crucial goal to meet people where they are. I am a 
creative problem solver and I believe that making 
space for listening and understanding all aspects of a 
reasoning can lead to deeper and more well-informed 
decisions and can bring about understanding and 
agreement in complex issues.

 I am grateful for the opportunity to expand and 
explore how we can make our community hub a role 
model for sustainable and cooperative businesses.

Statements continued on next page 
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Abby Getman Skillicorn

A five year owner of River Valley 
Co-op, I am proud to be a part 
of a body that so clearly and 
diligently seeks to fulfill its 
mission. I am inspired to apply 

to the Board of Directors because I want to give back 
to the co-op that feeds my family. I’m thrilled for 
the Easthampton expansion, which will be closer to 
my house in Florence where I live with my husband 
Michael and our dog Lucy. 

 My professional work over the past decade has 
revolved around social justice and food access in the 
Pioneer Valley and throughout the Commonwealth. As 
I continue to deepen my understanding of our food 
system from seed to table, I see how we perpetuate 
systems of food apartheid, and I strive to engage 
in work that creates more equity and access for 
everyone in our community.

 Currently I am a manager for Springfield 
Public Schools Food Service program, where I work 
across the District of 26,000 students to ensure 
our menu and service decisions are made with a 
student-centered approach. I direct the District’s 
farm-to-school efforts, supervise FoodCorps 
members in a dozen elementary schools, and sit 
on our Culinary and Nutrition Center’s Advisory 
Committee and co-chair the Outreach and 
Communications sub-committee. I have previously 
worked for the Department of Transitional Assistance 
on the Healthy Incentives Program (HIP), The Food 
Bank of Western Massachusetts, CISA, PVGrows, and 
Red Fire Farm.

 I have found through my work in community 
that it takes being an effective listener to hear 
both the squeaky wheels and silenced voices. Both 
guiding attentive stakeholder processes and creating 
effective operational systems are foundational to 
affecting change.

 Thanks for your consideration of my Board 
candidacy. I look forward to bringing my perspective 
and effort to the co-op, and to meeting more of you–
perhaps over the co-op’s famous sausage, egg and 
cheese breakfast sandwiches that fuel me after my 
weekend morning grocery shop.

Julie Tuman

I founded Crooked Stick Pops 
relatively recently in 2016, but 
it was only the most visible 
manifestation in long support for 
healthy, thoughtful food choices 

and responsible community involvement. I’ve been 
a member of this co-op since its initial fundraising 
drive before the doors opened in Northampton. An 
Easthampton resident since 2007, I can’t wait for the 
second location in my town, and I hope to help with 
that transition and other important issues while 
serving on the Board of Directors.

 I’ve always been drawn to mission-driven 
organizations. My first job out of grad school (MA 
Chinese, UMASS Amherst) was with a nonprofit that 
monitors international workers’ rights and labor 
conditions. I then spent 10+ years in international 
education, helping US students study abroad to 
gain perspective on the world around them. In my 
work with Crooked Stick Pops, I’ve formed strong 
relationships with local farms and orchards (we are 
a Local Hero Specialty Producer and have a strong 
commitment to source locally) and I am currently 
serving on the advisory board of the Amherst 
Farmers’ Market. In early 2019, I helped mentor an 
Easthampton-based kombucha startup through 
SPARK EforAll Holyoke, and I will work with this 
grassroots entrepreneurship organization again in 
2019-20.

 With Crooked Stick Pops I’ve learned how to 
make a genuinely fair and healthy product viable in 
a competitive market. My business is built on filling 
people with joy by making something delicious that 
is also good for them. These are the same values 
that food co-ops are founded on, and I will use my 
experience to help River Valley Co-op on sound 
footing while contributing to the community with 
unassailably mindful decisions and practices.

CANDIDATE STATEMENTS continued from page 37



Food co-ops and co-ops 
around the world are 
guided by the same seven 
basic principles. 
We follow these principles to 
provide value to our owners (you!), 
our community, and to help make 
the world a better place.

Cooperatives are voluntary 
organizations, open to all people 
able to use its services and willing 
to accept the responsibilities 
of membership, without gender, 
social, racial, political or religious 
discrimination.

VOLUNTARY  
& OPEN  

MEMBERSHIP

1 2
DEMOCRATIC 

MEMBER 
CONTROL

Cooperatives are democratic 
organizations controlled by their 
members—those who buy the 
goods or use the services of 
the cooperative—who actively 
participate in setting policies and 
making decisions.

3
MEMBERS' 
ECONOMIC 

PARTICIPATION

Members contribute equally to, 
and democratically control, the 
capital of the cooperative. This 
benefits members in proportion 
to the business they conduct with 
the cooperative rather than on 
the capital invested.

Cooperatives are autonomous, 
self-help organizations controlled 
by their members. If the co-op 
enters into agreements with 
other organizations or raises 
capital from external sources, it 
is done so based on terms that 
ensure democratic control by 
the members and maintains the 
cooperative’s autonomy. 

AUTONOMY & 
INDEPENDENCE

4

5

EDUCATION, 
TRAINING & 

INFORMATION

Cooperatives provide education 
and training for members, elected 
representatives, managers and 
employees so they can contribute 
effectively to the development 
of their cooperative. Members 
also inform the general public 
about the nature and benefits of 
cooperatives.

6

COOPERATION 
AMONG 

COOPERATIVES

Cooperatives serve their 
members most effectively and 
strengthen the cooperative 
movement by working together 
through local, national, regional 
and international structures.

While focusing on member 
needs, cooperatives work for 
the sustainable development of 
communities through policies 
and programs accepted by the 
members.

CONCERN FOR 
COMMUNITY

7

THE SEVEN

co•op
PRINCIPLES

Membership = Cooperative Ownership
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Financial Trends & FY19 Results

Personnel
23.93%

Cost of 
Goods Sold
68.83%

Occupancy 
2.78%

Operating Expenses 
2.36%

Advertising & Promotions 
2.31%

Depreciation & Amortization 
1.63%

Interest & Other Expenses 
1.04%

Administration 
1.02%

Net Income Before Taxes 
.94%

Provision for Income Taxes 
.23%

Governance 
.18%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors 
Northampton Community Cooperative Market, Inc. 
Northampton, Massachusetts 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Northampton Community 
Cooperative Market, Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2019 and 2018,
and the related consolidated statements of income, equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and 
the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Northampton Community Cooperative Market, Inc. as of June 30, 2019 
and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Wegner CPAs, LLP 
Madison, Wisconsin 
September 6, 2019
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See accompanying notes. 
 2 

2019 2018
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash 4,834,932$       2,985,046$       
Accounts recevable 61,698              34,138
Prepaid expenses 37,303              23,986              
Prepaid income taxes 803                   39,992
Inventory 792,708            787,028
Loans receivable 30,000 30,000

  
Total current assets   5,757,444         3,900,190         
   

Property and equipment - net   6,828,841         6,671,747

OTHER ASSETS   
Equity and deposits in cooperatives   311,522            292,631
Intangible assets   17,009              17,009
   
Total other assets   328,531            309,640            
   

Total assets   12,914,816$     10,881,577$     

LIABILITIES AND OWNERS' EQUITY   
CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Accounts payable   1,190,326$       1,062,069$       
Accrued expenses   521,044            476,571
Patronage dividend payable   43,000              -                        
Current portion of long-term debt   253,674            661,781
   
Total current liabilities   2,008,044         2,200,421         
   

Long-term debt net of current portion and debt issuance costs 7,533,536         5,557,781
Deferred taxes   450,000            467,000

   
Total liabilities   9,991,580         8,225,202         

OWNERS' EQUITY  
Common stock, $1 par value, 50,000 shares authorized,  

10,680 and 9,809 shares issued and outstanding 10,680              9,809
Additional paid-in capital  1,331,665 1,234,281
Stock issuance costs  (29,839)             (29,839)             
Minority interest in LLC  26                     26
Retained patronage dividend   1,784,183         1,612,183
Accumulated deficit  (173,479)           (170,085)           

Total owners' equity   2,923,236         2,656,375         
   

Total liabilities and owners' equity   12,914,816$     10,881,577$     

NORTHAMPTON COMMUNITY COOPERATIVE MARKET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30, 2019 and 2018
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See accompanying notes. 
 3 

 

Amount % Amount %
SALES REVENUE

Gross sales 29,622,084$  100.00   28,055,180$  100.00   
Cost of goods sold (18,906,345)   (63.83)    (18,118,590)   (64.58)    

 
Gross profit 10,715,739    36.17     9,936,590      35.42     

 
OPERATING EXPENSES

Personnel 7,089,701      23.93     6,715,851 23.94     
Occupancy 818,375         2.76       770,964 2.75       
Operating expenses 698,501         2.36       578,555 2.06       
Promotions 682,846         2.31       637,422 2.27       
Depreciation 481,684         1.63       475,061 1.69       
Administrative expenses 302,468         1.02       255,124 0.91       
Governance 52,050           0.18       60,277 0.21       

 
Total operating expenses 10,125,625    34.19     9,493,254      33.83     

Net income from operations 590,114         1.98       443,336         1.59       
 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Other income 32,241           0.11       67,738 0.24       
Interest expense (271,006)        (0.91)      (243,697)        (0.87)      
New store expenses (62,607)          (0.21)      -                     -             
Other expense (8,249)            (0.03)      (192,317)        (0.69)      

 
Total other income (expense) (309,621)        (1.04)      (368,276)        (1.32)      

 
Net income before income taxes 280,493         0.94       75,060           0.27       

 
Provision for income taxes (68,887)          (0.23)      (89,905)          (0.32)      
 
Net income (loss) 211,606$       0.71       (14,845)$        (0.05)      

 

NORTHAMPTON COMMUNITY COOPERATIVE MARKET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
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See accompanying notes. 
5 

 

  2019 2018
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

Net income (loss)  211,606$          (14,845)$           
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)  
to net cash flows from operating activities  

Depreciation 481,684            475,061            
Deferred taxes  (17,000)             12,000              
(Increase) decrease in assets  

Accounts receivable  (27,560)             24,921              
Prepaid expenses (13,317)             (4,530)               
Prepaid income taxes   39,189              65,475              
Inventory  (5,680)               43,643              
Equity and deposits in cooperatives  (18,891)             (53,319)             

Increase (decrease) in liabilities  
Accounts payable  128,257            (59,900)             
Accrued expenses  44,473              28,822              
  

Net cash flows from operating activities  822,761            517,328            
  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Purchases of property and equipment  (638,778)           (202,630)           

  
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Proceeds from long-term debt  2,936,200         1,103,500         
Amortization of debt issuance costs 6,875                6,875                
Payments on long-term debt  (1,375,427)        (1,071,491)        
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 98,255              71,010              
Patronage dividend paid -                        (43,800)             

  
Net cash flows from financing activities  1,665,903         66,094              

  
Change in cash  1,849,886         380,792            
  
Cash at beginning of year  2,985,046         2,604,254         
  
Cash at end of year  4,834,932$       2,985,046$       

  
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES

Cash paid for interest 261,216$          240,684$          
Noncash investing and financing transactions

Patronage dividend payable 43,000              -                        
Long-term debt incurred from refinancing 141,000            1,011,500         
Long-term debt paid from refinancing (141,000)           (1,011,500)        

NORTHAMPTON COMMUNITY COOPERATIVE MARKET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
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Annual 
Meeting20
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 You’re Invited!

Friday, December 6, 2019 • 5:30–9pm

Come see this annual report performed live with hand-cranked rolling scroll stage, puppetry, and kazoos!

Mill 180 Park • 180 Pleasant Street, Easthampton, MA 

Dinner & Dessert • Cash Bar • Live Music 
Tickets are just $5 and are available at the Customer Service desk


